Neutralization of Angiostatin to Promote Therapeutic Angiogenesis

by

Natasha Prashanti Govindasamy

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science

Department of Pharmacology University of Alberta

© Natasha Prashanti Govindasamy, 2017

ABSTRACT

Within diseases such as coronary artery disease (CAD) and peripheral artery disease (PAD) ischemia is induced in tissues due to arterial accumulation of atherosclerotic plaque. A novel therapeutic approach to restore blood flow is to neutralize anti-angiogenic factors that could limit ischemia-induced angiogenesis. Angiostatin is a potent anti-angiogenic factor that reduces endothelial cell migration, proliferation, and survival due to inhibition of an adenosine triphosphate (ATP) synthase localized on the surface of endothelial cells. Importantly, angiostatin inhibits lung endothelial cell expression of matrix metalloproteinase (MMP)-2 and membrane-bound MMP, MT1-MMP specifically during hypoxia; these MMPs are important mediators of endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis. Angiostatin may also contribute to endothelial dysfunction and impaired angiogenic responses by decreasing endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS) as observed in hypoxic lung endothelial cells. Overall, the anti-angiogenic effects of angiostatin can create a poor microenvironment for neovascularization of hypoxic tissues, thereby potentially contributing to the pathology of ischemic vascular diseases. The hypoxic-specific effects of angiostatin on cardiac-derived endothelial cells were investigated in vitro, while its effect on angiogenesis in vivo was investigated in a hind limb ischemia (HLI) model. Finally, a study to selectively neutralize angiostatin to restore the MMP-mediated angiogenic response of cardiac-derived cells was performed.

<u>Aims:</u> 1. To investigate if angiostatin inhibits MMP-2 and eNOS levels in cardiac-derived human microvascular endothelial cells (HMVEC-C), cells were incubated for 48 hours in normoxic or hypoxic (95% N₂, 5% CO₂) conditions.

ii

Gelatin zymography and western blot were used to analyze MMP-2 and eNOS protein levels, respectively.

2. To investigate if administering angiostatin (30µg) intraperitoneally in transgenic eNOS-GFP mice will impair angiogenesis in a HLI model.

3. To determine if neutralizing angiostatin (600nM) using ATP synthase α and β subunits (3 μ M) will restore MMP-2 levels and HMVEC-C migration during hypoxia. MMP-2 protein expression was analyzed via gelatin zymography. A modified Boyden chamber assay was utilized to measure HMVEC-C migration.

4. To determine if the ATP synthase subunits interfere with fibrinolysis *in vitro*, clot formation and breakdown was induced in human platelet-poor plasma via incubation with thrombin (1U/ml) and tissue plasminogen activator (1 μ g/ml) in the presence of the ATP synthase α , β and δ subunits (3 μ M).

<u>Results:</u> Angiostatin decreased MMP-2 and eNOS protein expression in hypoxic HMVEC-C. In a HLI model, angiostatin-administrated mice exhibited significantly reduced blood perfusion recovery at day 14, and reduced eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 expression in ischemic tissue in comparison to control mice. Hypoxic HMVEC-C co-treated with angiostatin and the ATP synthase α subunit exhibited increased MMP-2 expression compared to angiostatin alone. Furthermore, hypoxic HMVEC-C co-treated with angiostatin and the ATP synthase α subunit exhibited an average increase in MMP-dependent migration compared to angiostatin alone. Lastly, at concentrations used to neutralize angiostatin (3µM), the ATP synthase subunits did not interfere with fibrinolysis *in vitro*.

iii

<u>Conclusions</u>: During hypoxia, angiostatin reduced HMVEC-C expression of angiogenic mediators, MMP-2 and eNOS, which may be how it exerts its anti-angiogenic effects within an ischemic environment. In a murine HLI model, angiostatin impaired angiogenesis. Finally, neutralizing angiostatin using the ATP synthase α subunit increased MMP-2 expression in HMVEC-C, and resulted in an increase in endothelial cell migration all at a concentration that does not interfere with fibrinolysis. Therefore, using the ATP synthase α subunit to neutralize angiostatin could be a potential novel strategy to promote therapeutic angiogenesis.

PREFACE

This thesis is an original work by Natasha Prashanti Govindasamy. The research project, of which this thesis is a part, received research ethics approval from the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board, Project name "EFFECTS OF ANGIOSTATIN ON THE ISCHEMIC HIND LIMB", No. AUP00000447, October 31, 2012.

Under Chapter 3 Materials and Methods, section 3.4 and 3.9, parts of the methodology described concerning β -actin loading controls has been published as:

Govindasamy, N., Yan, M., Jurasz, P. Incorporation of β-actin loading control into zymography. *J Biol Methods* 2016; 3: pii: e61. Doi: 10.14440/jbm.2016.157.

I was in part responsible for experiments involving approach II, creation of abstract figure, and final manuscript edits.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

I would like to acknowledge my supervisor, Dr. Paul Jurasz, for his guidance, and constant support throughout this process. I am deeply grateful for your mentorship, and your commitment to providing a positive learning environment. Thank you for accepting me as your student.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude towards Dr. Frances Plane, Dr. Zamaneh Kassiri, and Dr. Sean McMurtry for being a part of my supervisory/examining committee, and for providing valuable advice and guidance.

I would also like to thank Dr. Lin Fu Zhu for his mentorship and contribution to the animal studies included in this project.

To the past and present members of our lab; Maria Yan, Teresa Fong, Gabriela Lesyk, Valentina Back and Jan Rudzinski, thank you for making my time here so enjoyable, and I am sincerely grateful for the friendship you have given me.

I would like to thank the Canadian Institute of Health Research for providing the funding that made it possible to pursue this research.

Finally, I would like to express my deep appreciation and love to my family who have been so supportive of me throughout this journey.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Angiogenesis	1
1.1.1 Initiation of Angiogenesis: Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor	4
1.1.2 Nitric Oxide and Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase	8
1.1.3 Matrix Metalloproteinases	11
1.1.4 Stabilization Phase	17
1.2 Angiostatin	21
1.2.1 Discovery of An Anti-Angiogenic Factor	21
1.2.2 Platelets: An Important Source of Angiostatin	25
1.2.3 Angiostatin's Anti-Angiogenic Effects	29
1.3 Angiostatin's Mechanism of Action	31
1.3.1 Angiostatin and the Microenvironment	31
1.3.2 Targets of Angiostatin	33
1.3.3 Ectopic ATP Synthase	35
1.3.4 Angiostatin in a Pathological Setting	39
2. HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES	41
2.1 Rationale	41
2.2 Hypothesis	43
2.3 Objectives of the Study	43
3. MATERIALS AND METHODS	44
3.1 Reagents	44
3.2 Cell culture	45
3.3. HMVEC-C treatment with angiostatin in normoxic and hypoxic condit	ions
	46

3.4 Gelatin zymography analysis of HMVEC-C pro-MMP-2/MMP-2 protein
expression47
3.5 Western blot analysis of HMVEC-C eNOS protein expression49
3.6 Murine hind limb ischemia model51
3.7 Confocal microscopy53
3.8 Processing of the ATP synthase subunits
3.9 Gelatin zymography analysis of HMVEC-C pro-MMP-2/MMP-2 protein
expression in response to neutralization of angiostatin during hypoxia58
3.10 Modified Boyden chamber assay59
3.11 Fibrinolysis assay61
3.12 Statistics
4. RESULTS
4.1 Angiostatin decreases total pro-MMP-2/MMP-2, and eNOS protein
expression by HMVEC-C during hypoxia64
4.2 Angiostatin decreases blood flow recovery in a murine HLI model68
4.3 Ischemic gastrocnemius muscle tissue from angiostatin-administered mice
exhibit reduced eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 expression71
4.4 The ATP synthase α subunit neutralizes angiostatin to increase total pro-
MMP-2/MMP-2 in hypoxic HMVEC-C76
4.5 ATP synthase α subunit neutralizes angiostatin to increase HMVEC-C
MMP-dependent migration during hypoxia78
4.6 ATP synthase α , β , and δ subunits do not interfere with fibrinolysis <i>in vitro</i>
5. DISCUSSION
5.1 Limitations of the Study97

6. CONCLUDING REMARKS	
7. FUTURE DIRECTIONS	
REFERENCES	

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Family of human matrix metalloproteinases	13
Table 2: Treatment array for fibrinolysis assay	62

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Angiogenesis: initiation phase and stabilization phase
Figure 2: Plasminogen structure indicating the cleavage site to generate angiostatin K1-424
Figure 3: Generation of platelet-derived angiostatin
Figure 4: Angiostatin inhibition of ectopic ATP synthase
Figure 5: Site of femoral artery ligation in the right hind limb55
Figure 6: Representative gel of processed ATP Synthase α and δ subunits
Figure 7: Five-fields of view captured to count migrated cells from 24-well inserts60
Figure 8: Angiostatin's effects on HMVEC-C MMP-2 protein expression
Figure 9: Angiostatin's effects on HMVEC-C eNOS protein expression
Figure 10: Representative laser Doppler images of blood perfusion in hind limbs of PBS-
administered and angiostatin-administered mice69
Figure 11: Hind limb perfusion ratio (I/NI) over 28 days70
Figure 12: Confocal microscopy of eNOS-GFP and VE-cadherin in gastrocnemius muscle
tissue72
Figure 13: Confocal microscopy of eNOS-GFP in gastrocnemius muscle tissue73
Figure 14: Confocal microscopy of MMP-2 in gastrocnemius muscle tissue74
Figure 15: Confocal microscopy of eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 in ischemic gastrocnemius muscle
tissue75
Figure 16: Effect of neutralizing angiostatin with ATP synthase subunits on HMVEC-C total
pro-MMP-2/MMP-2 protein expression during hypoxia77
Figure 17: Representative images of stained migrated cells from one field of view79

Figure 18: Effect of neutralizing angiostatin with ATP synthase subunits on HMVEC-C MMP-
dependent migration during hypoxia80
Figure 19: Schematic diagram of fibrin clot formation and fibrinolysis
Figure 20: Effect of ATP synthase subunits on fibrinolysis
Figure 21: Basal eNOS protein expression of HMVEC-C and T2D HMVEC-C104
Figure 22: Flow cytometry analysis of angiostatin's effects on HMVEC-C and T2D HMVEC-C
apoptosis and necrosis during hypoxia105
Figure 23: Effects of angiostatin on HMVEC-C and T2D HMVEC-C necrosis during
hypoxia106

LIST OF ABBREVIATIONS

- ADP adenosine diphosphate
- AS angiostatin
- ATP adenosine triphosphate
- Bcl-2 B cell lymphoma 2
- bFGF basic fibroblast growth factor
- BSA bovine serum albumin
- CAD coronary artery disease
- cGMP cyclic guanosine monophosphate
- EBM endothelial basal medium
- ECL enhanced chemiluminescence
- ECM extracellular matrix
- eNOS endothelial nitric oxide synthase
- ERK extracellular signal-related kinase
- FBS fetal bovine serum
- FITC fluorescein isothiocyanate
- GFP green fluorescent protein
- GP glycoprotein
- H hypoxia
- HCL hydrochloride
- HIF hypoxia inducible factor
- HLI hind limb ischemia

HMVEC-C - cardiac-derived human microvascular endothelial cells

HMVEC-L - lung-derived human microvascular endothelial cells

I - ischemic

- IF1- inhibitor of F1
- KO knock-out
- LLC lewis lung carcinoma
- L-NAME L-nitro-arginine methyl ester
- MMP matrix metalloproteinase
- MW molecular weight
- N normoxia
- NI non-ischemic
- NO nitric oxide
- PAD peripheral artery disease
- PBS phosphate-buffered saline
- PDGF platelet-derived growth factor

PEX - hemopexin

- PI3K phosphoinositide 3-kinase
- PVDF polyvinylidine difluoride
- SDS sodium dodecyl sulfate
- T2D Type 2 diabetic
- TGF- β transforming growth factor- β
- TIMP tissue inhibitors of matrix metalloproteinases
- tPA tissue plasminogen activator

Trypsin-EDTA - trypsin Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid

- TSP thrombospondin
- TTBS tween tris buffered saline
- uPA urokinase plasminogen activator
- VE-cadherin vascular endothelial cadherin
- VEGF vascular endothelial growth factor
- VEGFR vascular endothelial growth factor receptor
- vWF von Willabrand factor

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Angiogenesis

Coronary artery disease (CAD) and peripheral artery disease (PAD) are leading causes of death worldwide (Roth et al., 2015), and are characterized by reduced blood flow to tissues due to various vascular problems, such as build-up of atherosclerotic plaque in arteries. This impairment of blood flow or ischemia creates a state of hypoxia that if left untreated, and depending on the anatomical location can lead to the loss of affected limbs, cardiac damage, and heart failure (Giordano 2005). Hypoxia is characterized as a lack of a sufficient supply of oxygen to meet the metabolic demands of a cell or tissue (Semenza 2010). This can lead to a build-up of damaging reactive oxygen species, a loss of the high-energy molecule adenosine triphosphate (ATP), and can ultimately initiate programmed cell death or apoptosis (Saikumar et al., 1998). A persistent hypoxic environment can trigger the growth of new blood vessels around an obstructed artery, otherwise known as collateral blood vessels (Simons 2005, Schaper 2009). Additionally, pre-existing collateral blood vessels can be remodelled to take on the blood supply from the blocked vessel. The growth and remodelling of arteries is referred to as arteriogenesis and is mainly stimulated by an increase in vessel fluid shear stress that is exerted by blood flow along the endothelium (Heil et al., 2006). These collateral vessels can provide relief from the hypoxic state and help decrease the extent of ischemic damage. This is reflected in patients with wellestablished collateral blood vessels demonstrating improved recovery to an ischemic event (Hansen 1989, Seiler et al., 2003, Ozdemir et al., 2005, Meier et al., 2012, Kim et al., 2016).

The growth and formation of new capillary vessels from pre-existing vasculature is referred to as angiogenesis, and this process can occur both physiologically and pathologically (Risua 1997). Angiogenesis is an essential process in developmental growth, wound healing and reproduction. However, angiogenesis can contribute to a variety of diseases such as cancer, inflammation and diabetic retinopathy (Folkman 1995, Carmeliet 2003). There are two types of angiogenesis: intussusceptive and sprouting angiogenesis. Intussusceptive angiogenesis refers to the splitting of an existing blood vessel into two vessels by which the vessel wall invades into the luminal space, and is an important process in vessel remodeling. Sprouting angiogenesis defines the process of newly forming vessels branching from pre-existing vessels, and is found to be stimulated by hypoxia (Burri *et al.*, 2004, Potente *et al.*, 2011).

Angiogenesis is carried out by endothelial cells which form the lining of all blood vessels, and are separated from the surrounding interstitial matrix by a basement membrane composed of type IV collagen, laminins, perlecan, and other macromolecules (LeBlond and Inoue 1989). This layer of endothelial cells, referred to as the endothelium, functions as a barrier between bloodstream and tissue, and as a regulator of vascular tone, coagulation, immune cell transport and the angiogenic response (Furchgott and Zawadzki 1980, Sumpio *et al.*, 2002, Pober *et al.*, 2009). The endothelium can respond to changes in shear stress, and to changes in oxygen content (Kaunas *et al.*, 2011, Krock *et al.*, 2011). A main stimulus of angiogenesis is hypoxia (Dragneva *et al.*, 2013). Initiation of angiogenesis relies on an 'angiogenic switch', which is regulated by the balance and contribution of pro-angiogenic factors and anti-angiogenic factors. Under physiological conditions, anti-angiogenic factors act to maintain endothelium quiescence. However, a stimulus, such as hypoxia, can upregulate pro-angiogenic factors to an extent to where they predominate in the microvascular environment, and as a result the angiogenic switch is pushed towards initiation of angiogenesis (Hanahan and Folkman 1996). Angiogenesis occurs in two phases: the initiation phase and the stabilization phase. The initiation phase involves endothelial cell release of pro-angiogenic growth factors which stimulate endothelial cell proliferation and promote survival. In addition, proteolytic breakdown of the underlying basement membrane and remodelling of the extracellular matrix (ECM) allows for endothelial cells to migrate through interstitial tissue to form new capillary networks. The subsequent stabilization phase involves vessel lumen formation, deposition of basement membrane proteins, and the recruitment of supporting pericytes for vessel maturation. Within these stages the interaction and activities of various pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic factors are involved in regulating this dynamic process. (Risau 1997, Carmeliet 2000).

1.1.1 Initiation of Angiogenesis: Vascular Endothelial Growth Factor

Angiogenesis involves the interplay between pro- and anti- angiogenic factors and environmental conditions. In response to hypoxia, endothelial cells will accumulate oxygen sensing hypoxia inducible factor (HIF)-1α (Semenza and Wang 1992, Wang et al., 1995, Lin et *al.*, 2004). HIF-1 α is a subunit protein that forms a dimer with the constitutively expressed HIF-1β subunit to form the transcription factor HIF-1 (Wang et al., 1995). Long term responses to hypoxia mediated by HIF-1 results in the transcriptional upregulation of pro-angiogenic factors to initiate angiogenesis. These include platelet derived growth factor (PDGF), basic fibroblast growth factor (bFGF) and a crucial and potent proangiogenic factor called vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) (Lin et al., 2004, Byrne et al., 2005, Coultas et al., 2005, Shibuya and Claesson-Welsh 2006, Krock et al., 2011). HIF-1 binds to the hypoxia response elements within the VEGF gene resulting in increased mRNA transcription (Ladoux and Frelin 1993, Forsythe et al., 1996, Ferrara and Davis-Smyth 1997, Huang and Bao 2004). Vascular endothelial growth factor was first functionally discovered by Senger and Dvorak in 1983. It is a secreted endothelial mitogen that is critical in angiogenesis during development, as VEGF knock-out (KO) mice are embryonically lethal (Leung et al., 1989, Carmeliet et al., 1996, Ferrara et al., 1996). Members of the VEGF family include; VEGF-A, VEGF-B, VEGF-C, VEGF-D, and placental growth factor (Hoeben et al., 2004). VEGF-A, or commonly referred to as VEGF, was the first discovered and is considered the main, dominant pro-angiogenic mediator and endothelial cell mitogen in angiogenesis (Holmes and Zachary 2005). Additionally, different isoforms of VEGF-A can be generated based on where the VEGF-A gene is spliced. A few examples include VEGF₁₂₁, VEGF₁₆₅, VEGF₁₈₉, and VEGF₂₀₆ (Tischer et al., 1991, Houck et al., 1991).

VEGF can bind to heparan sulfate, a proteoglycan that is found expressed on cell surfaces, the basement membrane and is secreted into the ECM (Sarrazin *et al.*, 2011). The interaction with heparan sulfate can enhance stabilization of VEGF to its cell surface receptors, and prevent proteolysis and diffusion of the growth factor, thereby acting as a reserve (Olsson *et al.*, 2006, Sarrazin *et al.*, 2011). Additionally, different isoforms of the VEGF-A gene can possess distinct binding capabilities to heparan sulfate within the ECM due to presence or absence of heparin-binding domains within their structure (Houck *et al.*, 1991). VEGF mediates its angiogenic activity via binding of tyrosine kinase receptors, VEGFR-1 and VEGFR-2, which are expressed predominantly on the surface of vascular endothelial cells (Claesson-Welsh and Welsh 2013). VEGFR-2 is considered the main endothelial cell receptor responsible for VEGF mitogenic and permeability activity, while it has been suggested that VEGFR-1 acts as a negative regulator of VEGFR-2 activity as it exhibits low kinase activity in comparison (Terman *et al.*, 1994, Hoeben *et al.*, 2011). Overall, VEGF activation of its endothelial cell receptors stimulates proliferation, promotes survival, and enhances vessel permeability (Ferrara 1993, Roberts and Palade 1995).

Initiation of sprouting angiogenesis involves formation of endothelial cell sprouts, which are migrating endothelial cells forming new capillary networks. Endothelial cells comprising the sprout differentiate into tip cells at the angiogenic front of the sprout or stalk cells that form the supporting trunk and mediate lumen formation (Potente *et al.*, 2011). This tip versus stalk cell patterning has been shown to be coordinated by the transmembrane protein, Notch, and VEGF signalling (Lawson *et al.*, 2002, Gridley 2010). Furthermore, VEGF serves as a potent stimulus for sprout migration, as endothelial sprouts will follow a VEGF-gradient as they migrate through the interstitial matrix (Gerhardt *et al.*, 2003).

The role of VEGF is not limited to being a chemoattractant for endothelial sprouts, it also stimulates endothelial cell proliferation for formation of new capillary networks (Ferrara 1993). For instance, activation of VEGFR-2 on endothelial cells results in receptor dimerization and autophosphorylation which can stimulate cell proliferation via phospholipase C-y/protein kinase C/RAS/extracellular signal-regulated kinase (ERK) pathways. Additionally, VEGFR-2 activation also stimulates cell migration via phosphoinositide 3-kinase (PI3K)/p38mitogen activated protein kinase/focal adhesion kinase signalling pathways (Rousseau et al., 1997, Bernatchez et al., 1999, Shibuya 2011, Hoeben et al., 2011). Furthermore, VEGF contributes to hyperpermeability of the vasculature (Bates 2010). Vessel permeability is augmented by loosening of cell-cell adhesion, which can be induced by VEGF-mediated tyrosine phosphorylation of cell adherins, such as vascular endothelial (VE)-cadherin, which are localized in junctions between endothelial cells and maintain adhesive integrity to restrict endothelium permeability (Esser et al., 1998, Falk 2010). As the barrier of the endothelium becomes more permeable, proteins such as fibrinogen, vitronectin and fibronectin are leaked in from the blood, and become part of a framework that serves as a supporting structure for the dynamic environment that endothelial sprouts must traverse (Davis and Sengar 2005).

Endothelial cell apoptosis can impair angiogenesis and contribute to vessel rarefaction (Dimmeler and Zeiher 2000). VEGF protects endothelial cells from apoptosis via activation of PI3K/Akt kinase survival signalling (Gerber *et al.*, 1998). Specifically, VEGF signalling increases endothelial cell expression of anti-apoptotic regulatory proteins, B-cell lymphoma 2 (bcl-2) and bcl-2 related protein, A1.

These proteins act to prevent cytochrome C release from the mitochondria, and inhibit the activity of executioner enzymes, caspases, that carry out the apoptotic cascade (Gerber *et al.,* 1998). Thus, activated endothelial cells participating in angiogenesis depend on VEGF-mediated signalling for survival in a hypoxic environment.

Finally, the angiogenic effects of VEGF during angiogenesis can be attributed to VEGF induced phosphorylation and activation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase (eNOS), an important enzyme responsible for production of another important pro-angiogenic and prosurvival mediator, nitric oxide (NO) (Kroll and Waltenberger 1998, Park *et al.*, 2002).

1.1.2 Nitric Oxide and Endothelial Nitric Oxide Synthase

In 1987, the endothelium-derived relaxation factor found to induce relaxation of vessels in response to acetylcholine was identified as NO independently by Moncada and Ignarro, and was named 'Molecule of the Year' in 1992 (Ignarro *et al.*, 1987, Palmer *et al.*, 1987, Moncada and Higgs 2006). It's role in cardiovascular physiology is still being investigated to this day, and it has been essential to the understanding of endothelium function and angiogenesis.

NO is a soluble gas synthesized by nitric oxide synthase (NOS) enzymes. There are three isoforms of NOS, neuronal NOS, inducible NOS, and endothelial NOS (eNOS). With relation to endothelial cells, the main source of NO under physiological conditions comes from the activity of constitutively expressed eNOS (Lamas *et al.*, 1992). This isoform of NOS can be localized within small lipid rafts in the endothelial cell plasma membrane called caveolae. Its activity is inhibited by interaction with a caveolae coat protein, caveolin-1. As intracellular calcium levels rise, eNOS dissociates from caveolin-1 to interact with calcium-activated calmodulin, thus it can exhibit calcium-dependent activation (Ju *et al.*, 1997). However, the activity of eNOS can also be regulated via calcium-independent mechanisms via phosphorylation induced by fluid shear stress pathways or mediated by VEGFR activation or heat shock protein 90 (Dimmeler *et al.*, 1999, Forstermann and Sessa 2012). Upon activation, eNOS converts its substrate, L-arginine, and co-substrates, oxygen and reduced nicotinamide-adenine-dinucleotide phosphate, into NO and L-citrulline.

NO production is essential for the proper function of the endothelium as it mediates one of the endothelial dependent vasodilation pathways, inhibits platelet aggregation, suppresses the inflammatory response, and is an important mediator of angiogenesis (Azuma *et al.*, 1986, Radomski *et al.*, 1987, Rees *et al.*, 1989, Bogdan 2001).

Its role in angiogenesis has been demonstrated in various studies, for example; eNOS-KO mice exhibit reduced wound repair and angiogenesis *in vivo*, and endothelial cells derived from eNOS-KO mice exhibit reduced migration and proliferation *in vitro* (Lee *et al.*, 1999). Furthermore, administering L-nitro-arginine methyl ester (L-NAME), a non-selective NOS inhibitor, prevents endothelial cell capillary formation in response to VEGF *in vitro* (Ziche *et al.*, 1997).

A major physiological stimulus for NO production is fluid shear stress exerted by blood flow on the endothelium surface. Therefore, under physiological conditions there is a continuous basal production of NO within the endothelium (Corson *et al.*, 1996). However, during initiation of angiogenesis several factors promote further NO production such as, VEGF and bFGF (Cooke and Losordo 2002). The close interaction between VEGF and NO is demonstrated *in vitro*, where cultured human endothelial cells release NO in response to VEGF treatment (van der Zee *et al.*, 1997, Hood *et al.*, 1998). Moreover, long-term exposure of endothelial cells to VEGF leads to increased eNOS protein levels (Papapetropoulos *et al.*, 1997). A specific interaction was delineated as VEGF mediates phosphorylation of eNOS at a serine 1177 residue via PI3/Akt kinase which leads to enzyme activation (Dimmeler *et al.*, 1999, Dimmeler *et al.*, 2000).

An important pathway through which NO exerts its physiological effects is activation of soluble guanylyl cyclase which converts guanosine triphosphate to cyclic guanosine monophosphate (cGMP) (Moncada *et al.*, 1991). cGMP is a secondary messenger that activates signalling cascades to induce smooth muscle relaxation and vasodilation (Arnold *et al.*, 1977).

This NO mediated vasodilation in a setting of angiogenesis can potentiate blood flow as an acute response to hypoxia (Krock *et al.*, 2011), while also promoting endothelial cell activation as increased blood flow has been shown to induce endothelial cell proliferation (Cho *et al.*, 1997, Hudlicka 1998). Thus, the hemodynamic effects of NO have a role in activating endothelial cells during angiogenesis.

As mentioned above, pro-survival signalling is crucial for successful neovascularization, as endothelial cell apoptosis can lead to the regression of growing vessels (Dimmeler and Zeiher 1999, Ziche *et al.*, 2000). NO promotes cell survival by interfering with key apoptotic signalling pathways. For example, NO exerts inhibitory effects on pro-apoptotic proteins, such as caspase 3 via S-nitrosylation of the enzyme's active sites (Kim *et al.*, 1997). Alternatively, it inhibits the caspase-mediated breakdown of the anti-apoptotic protein, bcl-2 (Dimmeler and Zeiher 1999). Therefore, NO's role as a pro-survival factor for endothelial cells supports its contribution to endothelium function and angiogenesis.

NO has also been associated with another critical angiogenic process, endothelial cell migration. This is demonstrated in endothelial cells derived from eNOS-deficient mice that exhibit impaired migration and tube formation, which corresponded with a reduction in expression of another mediator of angiogenesis, matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) (Genis *et al.*, 2007).

1.1.3 Matrix Metalloproteinases

An early step of angiogenesis involves endothelial cell migration, whereby endothelial cells separate from the underlying basement membrane to assemble into sprouts which navigate through the ECM to form new vessels. Proteins that make up the endothelial basement membrane and the interstitial spaces include; collagen, laminin, fibrillin, fibrin, entactins, fibronectin and elastins (Mundel and Kalluri 2007). The ECM is not simply a barrier through which endothelial cells must pass; the proteins that comprise the ECM are an essential component to modulating endothelial cell signalling, survival and migration (Davis and Sengar 2005). In fact, ECM proteins have an important role in regulating angiogenesis. During initiation of angiogenesis ECM proteins such as collagen and laminin interact with endothelial cell integrins, such as integrins $\alpha 1\beta 1$, and $\alpha 2\beta 1$ that mediate cell adhesion, survival and proliferation (Lamalice et al., 2007). Additionally, the ECM sequesters angiogenic factors such as VEGF, and bFGF, and as remodelling progresses these factors are liberated to modulate the angiogenic process (Kalluri 2003, Davis and Sengar 2005, Lamalice et al., 2007). Remodelling is necessary for the endothelial sprout to migrate and invade into the type I collagen rich interstitial matrix to connect to other vessels (Stetler-Stevenson 1999). Major contributors of the ECM remodelling processes are a family of proteases, called matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs). MMPs are zinccontaining endopeptidases that mediate cleavage of a wide range of proteins, including collagen, that make up the basement membrane and ECM. These enzymes are synthesized in latent forms which upon proteolyzation are converted to active forms. There are 24 different human MMPs, included in Table 1, however there is a fairly conserved structure between the different subtypes.

MMPs contain a pro-domain which when attached via a cysteine switch motif coordinates with the zinc ion within the catalytic domain which prevents substrate binding, thereby maintaining the enzymes inactive zymogen form. Lastly, most MMPs contain a hemopexin-like (PEX) domain attached via a hinge region, which can mediate binding to substrates and cell surface receptors. The membrane-type MMPs have a distinct structure from other subtypes, as they contain an additional transmembrane domain. (Sternlicht and Werb 2001, Rundhaug 2005, Malemud 2006, Fragai and Luchinat 2015).

GROUP	MMP #
Collagenase	
Collagenase 1	1
Collagenase 2	8
Collagenase 3	13
Collagenase 4	18
Gelatinase	
Gelatinase A	2
Gelatinase B	9
Stromelysin	
Stromelysin 1	3
Stromelysin 2	10
Stromelysin 3	11
Matrilysin	
Matrilysin	7
Matrilysin-2	26
Membrane-type	1
MT1-MMP	14
MT2-MMP	15
MT3-MMP	16
MT4-MMP	17
MT5-MMP	24
MT6-MMP	25
Cysteine-array MMP	23 (A and B)
(type II membrane	
type)	
Others	10
Metalloelastase	12
Enamelysin	20
Epilysin	28
No Name	21
No Name	27

Table 1: Family of human matrix metalloproteinases.

MMPs have been shown to have significant roles in regulating endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis. A prevalent MMP in the angiogenic process is the gelatinase, MMP-2, as inhibition of its activity in endothelial cells reduces capillary formation *in vitro* (Schnaper *et al.,* 1993). The level to which MMP-2 is expressed and activated is tightly regulated at three stages: transcription, post-translational modification via protease-mediated removal of the pro-peptide domain, and by tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs) (Sternlicht and Werb 2001, Arpino *et al.,* 2015).

<u>Transcription</u>: Endothelial cells constitutively express MMP-2, however the expression of MMP-2 is subject to regulation by other genes, for example the tumor suppressor protein, p53, which has a binding region within the promotor of the MMP-2 gene (Bian and Sun 1997, Rundhaug 2005). Furthermore, extracellular cues such as cell-cell interactions, cell interactions with surrounding matrix proteins, and cell exposure to hypoxia can influence MMP-2 expression (Haas and Madri 1999, Kiran *et al.*, 2011). This is demonstrated in endothelial cells that express increased levels of MMP-2 mRNA when cultured in three-dimensional type I collagen matrix (Haas *et al.*, 1998), or when exposed to long term hypoxia (Ben-Yosef *et al.*, 2002).

<u>Post-translational Modification:</u> Pro-MMP-2 can be proteolytically activated via removal of the pro domain by a membrane-bound MMP, MT1-MMP. To be activated from its zymogen form by MT1-MMP, secreted pro-MMP-2 requires TIMP-2 as activation of pro-MMP-2 does not occur in TIMP-2 (-/-) cells expressing MT1-MMP (Morrison *et al.*, 2001). TIMP-2 forms a complex with membrane-bound MT1-MMP and pro-MMP-2. The MT1-MMP/TIMP-2 complex serves as an anchor and binds the PEX domain of pro-MMP-2, while a TIMP-2-free MT1-MMP cleaves the pro domain thereby exposing the catalytic site. (Goldberg *et al.*, 1989, Strongin *et al.*, 1995, Butler *et al.*, 1998).

<u>Regulation by TIMPs:</u> MMP-2 activity can be regulated by TIMPs 1-4 (Brew and Nagase 2010). TIMP-2 is an effective inhibitor of MMP-2 activity, via interactions with the MMP-2 PEX domain (Itoh *et al.*, 1998). In addition, at high concentrations TIMP-2 saturates MT1-MMPs thereby preventing a free MT1-MMP from activating latent MMP-2 (Strongin *et al.*, 1993) Furthermore, pro-MMP-2 activation can be negatively regulated via TIMP-4 inhibition of MT1-MMP (Bigg *et al.*, 2001). TIMPs themselves have been found to have both anti-angiogenic and pro-angiogenic activity, and this duality depends on the concentrations present (Qi *et al.*, 2003, Takawale *et al.*, 2017). Thus, the balance between MMP and TIMP levels can determine the overall impact on angiogenic processes (Arpino *et al.*, 2015).

A major target of MMP-2 is type IV collagen, a protein that contributes to the structure of the basement membrane. Proteolysis of type IV collagen promotes detachment of endothelial cells from the underlying basement membrane, thereby allowing for endothelial cell motility (Kalebic *et al.*, 1983). Additionally, MMP-2 co-localizes with the endothelial cell surface expressed integrin $\alpha_V\beta_3$, which mediates endothelial cell migration (Silletti *et al.*, 2001). Membrane bound MT1-MMP not only mediates MMP-2 activation; it also cleaves type I collagen, a protein that is abundant in the ECM (Sato *et al.*, 1997). Cleavage of collagen within the ECM clears a path for endothelial cells to migrate and form new vessels. Localization of MT1-MMP activity is found at the endothelial cell surface, specifically in cell processes called lamellipodia. This serves to provide a more directional and precise breakdown of the ECM, and helps regulate the extent of ECM remodelling during endothelial cell migration (Itoh 2006). In summary, activities of both MMP-2 and MT1-MMP mediate endothelial cell migration, and ECM remodelling for new capillary formation. Mice deficient in MT1-MMP and MMP-2 are not embryonically lethal, like VEGF-deficient mice, however they do have delayed angiogenic responses (Zhou *et al.*, 2000, Ohno-Matsui *et al.*, 2003). Thus, MMPs are essential mediators within the early stages of angiogenesis.

1.1.4 Stabilization Phase

As angiogenesis progresses into the stabilization phase, newly formed vessels must be maintained to ensure viability and maturity. In this phase, endothelial cells begin to form vascular tubules, lumen formation occurs, and deposition of basement membrane matrix proteins is initiated to form a stable vessel (Stratman and Davis 2012). Sprouting endothelial cells are not yet a functioning capillary network without the supporting framework provided by mural cells, specifically pericytes. Pericytes are contractile cells which when closely associated with endothelial cells mediate endothelial cell survival, vessel permeability and capillary blood flow (Ribatti et al., 2011). An important step in vessel maturation is the release of PDGF-B from endothelial cells which through interactions with pericyte expressed PDGF receptor- β has a role in recruiting pericytes to be incorporated into the vessels outer structure (Hellstrom et al., 1999, Gaengel et al., 2009). Pericyte interaction is fundamental to the stabilization of the newly formed capillaries as it promotes endothelial cell quiescence, and allows for VEGF independent survival of the endothelium (Benjamin et al., 1999). Endothelial cell and pericyte contact leads to activation of transforming growth factor- β (TGF- β) signalling pathways which promote pericyte migration, proliferation, and differentiation (Pardali et al., 2010). TGF-β also downregulates endothelial cell VEGFR-2 expression, and inhibits endothelial cell proliferation and migration (Orlidge and D'Amore 1987, Sato and Rifkin 1989, Mandriota et al., 1996). Additionally, endothelial cells express the tyrosine kinase receptor, Tie-2, which when bound to its pericytederived ligand, angiopoietin-1, mediates cell survival, and decreases vessel permeability (von Tell et al., 2006). In terms of the angiogenic switch, activities of pro-angiogenic factors such as VEGF and MMPs can be negatively regulated.

Pericytes induce TIMP-2 expression in endothelial cells, which at high concentrations leads to inhibition of MMP activity to reduce ECM turnover (Saunders *et al.*, 2006). Another method is entrapment with a broad spectrum MMP inhibitor, α_2 -macroglobulin, which is initially a cleavage target of MMPs, however enzyme interaction can induce a conformational change within the substrate thereby trapping the active MMP (Sottrup-Jensen and Birkedal-Hansen 1989, Baker *et al.*, 2002). VEGF pro-angiogenic activity can be negatively regulated via VEcadherin localizing to VEGFR-2 and mediating its phosphorylation (Zanetti *et al.*, 2002, Simons *et al.*, 2016).

Alternatively, the contribution of anti-angiogenic factors becomes important to promote endothelial cell quiescence (Potente *et al.*, 2011). As the basement membrane and ECM are proteolyzed, anti-angiogenic factors are liberated and serve to negatively regulate the angiogenic process. For example, proteolysis of different types of collagen leads to the release of antiangiogenic factors endostatin, arresten, canstatin and tumstatin, which act to promote endothelial quiescence by inhibiting endothelial cell angiogenic responses, such as migration and proliferation (O'Reilly *et al.*, 1997, Mundel and Kalluri 2007). Additional important antiangiogenic mediators such as thrombospondin (TSP)-1 and -2 act to inhibit endothelial cell proliferation and have been shown to prevent activation and promote clearance of MMP-2 to prevent further ECM proteolysis (Bein and Simons 2000, Armstrong and Bernstein 2003).

In this phase, proliferation and migration of active endothelial cells is negatively regulated, and endothelial cells become quiescent and part of a newly formed functioning vessel network. The angiogenic process is complex and many pro- and anti-angiogenic factors can influence and regulate its progression.

Figure 1 represents the different phases of angiogenesis, and includes a few of the mediators that have a role within these distinct phases. An important anti-angiogenic factor that inhibits endothelial cell responses during angiogenesis is angiostatin.



Figure 1: Angiogenesis: initiation phase and stabilization phase

1.2 Angiostatin

1.2.1 Discovery of An Anti-Angiogenic Factor

Angiostatin was discovered by Dr. Judah Folkman's group in 1994 in a Lewis lung carcinoma (LLC) model of concomitant resistance. In this initial study, serum and urine from LLC-bearing mice had inhibitory effects on endothelial cell proliferation. In addition, mice administered dialyzed urine from LLC-bearing mice had decreased metastatic tumor growth. Since metastases and tumor growth require angiogenesis to develop vasculature to supply nutrients and oxygen, the group proposed that a circulating anti-angiogenic factor was preventing metastatic tumor growth via inhibition of tumor-induced angiogenesis. This anti-angiogenic factor was isolated and the group termed it angiostatin (O'Reilly et al., 1994). Angiostatin has been studied mostly in the context of tumor growth for its role in inhibiting tumor-induced angiogenesis (Wahl et al., 2004). Many studies focus on investigating angiostatin in a tumor environment (Cao and Xue 2004), since it was first thought that angiostatin was either released by tumor cells exclusively, or that a tumor-derived factor was inducing its production in the bloodstream. However, it has now been established that angiostatin is present in the human bloodstream under normal physiological conditions (Jurasz et al., 2003). Angiostatin is an internal fragment of the plasma protein, plasminogen (O'Reilly et al., 1994). Plasminogen is a liver-synthesized fibrinolytic protein that can be converted to its active counterpart plasmin by tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), or urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA) (Castillino and Ploplis 2005).
Plasmin is a serine protease that functions to break down fibrin clot matrixes to fibrin degradation products, thereby mediating fibrinolysis. Plasminogen's structure is composed of five triple loop disulfide-linked domains called kringles. Cleavage at different sites by either uPA, tPA, or matrix metalloproteinases can yield various forms of angiostatin, such as angiostatin K1-3, K1-4, K1-4.5 and K1-5 (Stathakis et al., 1997, Soff 2000). Additionally, it can be generated via plasmin autocatalysis following the cleavage of plasminogen to plasmin (Stathakis et al., 1997). Angiostatin fragments each contain a different number of disulfide linked kringle domains. For example, angiostatin K1-3 (molecular weight: 38kDa) contains the first three kringle domains derived from plasminogen, whereas, as represented in Figure 2, angiostatin K1-4 (molecular weight: 50kDa) is composed of the first four. Integrity of the kringle structures is fundamental as disruption of the connecting disulfide bonds results in loss of angiostatin anti-angiogenic activity (Cao et al., 1996). Interestingly, differences in kringle composition of angiostatin have been shown to confer differences in potencies regarding their inhibitory activities (Cao et al., 1996, Ji et al., 1998). For example, angiostatin K1-3 demonstrates potent endothelial cell anti-proliferative activity with a median effective dose of 70nM, compared to angiostatin K1-4 which as a median effective dose of 135nM (Cao et al., 1996). However, potent anti-migratory effects are suggested to reside in kringle 4 domain of angiostatin (Ji et al., 1998). Investigations into angiostatin's anti-angiogenic effects, including clinical trials investigating it as a potential anti-cancer therapy have mainly utilized angiostatin K1-3. While these trials suggest that utilizing recombinant human angiostatin K1-3 is well tolerated and feasible, they have not yet demonstrated significant differences in anti-tumor activity (Soff 2000, Beerepoot et al., 2003, Cao and Xue 2004, Kurup et al., 2006).

Possible reasons could be due to insufficient biological doses that can inhibit later stages of tumor growth, and/or that these studies utilize an isoform of angiostatin that is not predominantly present endogenously within the human bloodstream. In fact, the predominant isoform of angiostatin is angiostatin K1-4, and a primary source is derived from platelets (Jurasz *et al.,* 2003).



Figure 2: Cartoon representation of plasminogen structure indicating the cleavage site to generate angiostatin K1-4.

1.2.2 Platelets: An Important Source of Angiostatin

Human platelets are 2µm, disk-shaped, anuclear cells that are derived from precursor bone marrow cells called megakaryocytes. Their primary function involves maintaining hemostasis by forming clots at sites of endothelium injury. Platelets will adhere to sites of injury via interactions between platelet surface von Willabrand factor (vWF) receptors (glycoprotein (GP) Ib/IX/V) and collagen receptors (GPVI and integrin $\alpha 2\beta 1$) and exposed vWF and collagen on the injured endothelium. They will also form a platelet plug by aggregating to each other through binding of GP IIb/IIIa receptors and fibrinogen. (Varga-Szabo et al., 2008) Platelets contain several types of storage granules, including α -granules, dense-granules and lysosomes. Within these granules, platelets store several chemical messengers and proteins such as adenosine nucleotides, serotonin, vWF, fibrinogen, coagulation factors, growth factors and more. Upon activation, platelets release these granular contents leading to a cascade of events that mediate platelet aggregation (Timmons et al., 1984, Jurk and Kehrel 2005, Sangkuhl et al., 2011). Additionally, platelets play an important role in angiogenesis as they have been shown to store angiogenic factors within their granules which upon activation are released into the bloodstream (Italiano et al., 2008, Klement et al., 2009, Radziwon-Balicka et al., 2012). For example, during aggregation platelets release pro-angiogenic factors such as VEGF, bFGF, and MMPs. In addition to pro-angiogenic factors, platelets can store and produce anti-angiogenic factors, such as TSP-1, endostatin, and angiostatin (Jurasz et al., 2003, Italiano et al., 2008).

Angiostatin has been found to be constitutively produced by platelets. It can be generated at the platelet membrane surface and be released into the circulation, and can be sequestered and stored within α -granules of platelets which release their content during platelet activation. (Figure 3) (Jurasz et al., 2003, Jurasz et al., 2006). Studies have demonstrated that the physiological concentration of angiostatin within the bloodstream is approximately 600nM, however its plasma levels can almost double, to $1.2\mu M$, for example in a platelet activated environment (Jurasz et al., 2006, Jurasz et al., 2010, Radziwon-Balicka et al. 2013). Both angiostatin K1-3 and K1-4 were identified to be produced by platelets, however the predominant form found in the human blood is angiostatin K1-4, as angiostatin K1-3 is produced at low concentrations (Jurasz et al., 2006). Moreover, angiostatin is generated at platelet membrane surfaces via proteolytic cleavage of plasminogen, and subsequent plasmin autocatalysis. This has been demonstrated *in vitro* by the conversion of exogenous plasminogen to functional angiostatin by platelet membranes (Jurasz et al., 2006). Furthermore, aprotinin, a serine protease inhibitor, inhibits plasmin catalytic activity, thereby reducing generation of platelet-derived angiostatin (Jurasz et al., 2006). Matrix metalloproteinases (MMP-2, -3, -7, -9, -12) can generate angiostatin via MMP-mediated cleavage of plasminogen (Cornelius et al., 1998). However, MMP inhibitors do not influence platelet membrane generated angiostatin, suggesting that MMPs are not the primary catalysts of platelet-derived angiostatin production (Radziwon-Balicka et al., 2013). Importantly, platelet membranes incubated with a selective inhibitor of uPA exhibited reduced generation of angiostatin. This suggests that platelet *de novo* generation of angiostatin is mediated via uPA cleavage of plasminogen at platelet membrane surfaces (Jurasz et al., 2006).

Furthermore, platelet release of angiostatin has been temporally characterized at different stages of platelet activation. When platelets are activated with an agonist, such as collagen, angiostatin levels are increased at later stages of platelet activation, specifically at maximal aggregation. In contrast, VEGF release from granular stores peak during platelet shape change, an early stage of platelet aggregation (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). This and other studies suggests that during thrombus formation temporal differences in platelet angiogenic releasates may regulate different stages of angiogenesis (Italiano *et al.*, 2008). Manipulation of platelet activity can influence sources of angiogenic regulators, such as angiostatin. For example, inhibitors of platelet aggregation, NO and prostacyclin, inhibit platelet α -granule release thereby attenuating angiostatin release (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). This demonstrates the contribution of platelets as important sources of angiostatin, and as regulators of the angiogenic process.



Figure 3: Generation of platelet-derived angiostatin.

1.2.3 Angiostatin's Anti-Angiogenic Effects

The physiological role of angiogenesis inhibitors is to maintain a state of quiescence within the endothelium, and during angiogenesis they serve as the brakes to prevent excessive vessel growth that can lead to unstable vasculature and contribute to pathological conditions (Folkman 1995, Carmeliet 2003). Elucidating the anti-angiogenic effects of angiostatin's can be complex as researchers often use different forms of angiostatin on different types of endothelial cells within varying environmental conditions. However, overall angiostatin has been shown to inhibit several endothelial cell processes that are important for neovascularization, including proliferation, survival and migration (Claesson-Welsh *et al.*, 1998, Ji *et al.*, 1998, Griscelli *et al.*, 1998, Troyanovsky *et al.*, 2001, Hanford *et al.*, 2003, Sharma *et al.*, 2004).

Exposure of capillary endothelial cells to angiostatin (K1-4) *in vitro* demonstrated that it inhibits endothelial cell proliferation (O'Reilly *et al.*, 1994, Claesson-Welsh *et al.*, 1998). In Folkman and colleagues original study elucidating its anti-angiogenic properties, angiostatin had no inhibitory effects on proliferation of LLC cells, human fetal lung fibroblasts, mink lung epithelium cells, or bovine aortic smooth muscle cells (O'Reilly *et al.*, 1994). This led to the understanding that as an inhibitor of cell growth, angiostatin is endothelial cell specific.

Endothelial cell survival is essential in the dynamic vascular environment during angiogenesis, and depending on the concentration, exposure time and environmental conditions, angiostatin's effects can lead to endothelial cell apoptosis (Lucas *et al.*, 1998). For example; human umbilical endothelial cells undergo apoptosis after 36 hours of exposure to angiostatin (K1-4.5) (Hanford *et al.*, 2003). Furthermore, the dose- and time-dependent anti-proliferative effects of multiple forms of angiostatin (K1-3, K1-4) were demonstrated to be due to cytotoxicity and induction of apoptosis of endothelial cells (Lucas *et al.*, 1998).

Another essential step in angiogenesis is endothelial cell migration, and formation of capillary tubule structures. Human umbilical endothelial cells incubated in a Boyden Chamber assay to assess migration capacity towards a growth factor gradient demonstrated decreased migration with angiostatin (K1-3) treatment (Claesson-Welsh *et al.*, 1998). In addition, angiostatin (K1-4) disrupts endothelial tube formation in three-dimensional angiogenesis assays (Claesson-Welsh *et al.*, 1998, Griscelli *et al.*, 1998, Troyanovsky *et al.*, 2001).

The underlying molecular mechanism of action of angiostatin has not been fully elucidated and remains unclear. Recent work has focused on the anti-angiogenic effects of angiostatin (K1-4) during hypoxia (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). Results from these studies revealed that angiostatin inhibits human lung-derived microvascular endothelial cell migration (HMVEC-L) specifically during hypoxia. Since MMPs mediate endothelial cell migration, upon further investigation, angiostatin was found to inhibit HMVEC-L expression of MMP-2 and MT1-MMP levels during hypoxic conditions. Furthermore, angiostatin was also found to reduce eNOS expression specifically in hypoxic HMVEC-L, suggesting a hypoxic-specific mechanism of action.

1.3 Angiostatin's Mechanism of Action

1.3.1 Angiostatin and the Microenvironment

Investigating angiostatin's anti-angiogenic mechanism requires understanding the contribution of the neo-angiogenic vascular environment and its ability to influence angiostatin activity. Hypoxia is a state characteristically induced by tumor growth due to a dysfunctional vasculature, as well as in ischemic vascular diseases due to atherosclerotic plaque buildup, or abnormal thrombus formation. Endothelial cells in a hypoxic environment will undergo anaerobic metabolism, secreting lactate thereby lowering the extracellular pH (Sorensen et al., 2015, Koziel and Jarmuszkiewicz 2017). Both oxygen supply and pH of the extracellular environment have been shown to influence endothelial cell responses to angiostatin. For example; angiostatin (K1-4) inhibits endothelial cell tube formation at a low extracellular pH (6.7), an effect which is not observed at a normal pH (7.3) without using significantly higher doses of angiostatin, or longer incubation times (Wahl and Grant 2000). This demonstrated its pH-selective effects on endothelial cell angiogenic activity at certain concentrations, and may explain its potent inhibitory effects within an acidic tumor vasculature (Griscelli et al., 1998). While differences exclusively in extracellular pH effect angiostatin activity, the contribution of the hypoxic environment can also influence its mechanism of action. As previously mentioned, angiostatin (K1-4) decreased MMP-2, MT1-MMP, and eNOS expression in endothelial cells during hypoxia, but had no effect during normoxia (Radziwon-Balicka et al., 2013). Furthermore, angiostatin (K1-4) induces endothelial cell apoptosis at a low extracellular pH, a state that is induced by hypoxic conditions (Wahl and Grant 2000, Wahl et al., 2002, Chi and Pizzo 2006, Koziel and Jarmuszkiewicz 2017).

However, angiostatin induction of HMVEC-L apoptosis during hypoxia was not observed due to hypoxia-induced VEGF upregulation and subsequent pro-survival signalling. Only when at high concentrations did angiostatin induce endothelial cell apoptosis during hypoxia that was not rescued by VEGF (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). This would suggest that hypoxia-induced pro-survival mechanisms may be able to overcome angiostatin's apoptotic effects. Therefore, differences in concentration of angiostatin, availability of oxygen, and extracellular pH can influence the anti-angiogenic actions of angiostatin on endothelial cells.

1.3.2 Targets of Angiostatin

To further elucidate angiostatin's mechanism of action researchers have focused on identifying its endothelial cell target. A few cellular targets have been discovered, however there are still unknown areas and critiques regarding these targets. Angiomotin was identified as a novel protein that interacted with angiostatin. Angiomotin has been shown to promote endothelial cell motility and tube formation (Bratt *et al.*, 2005). It was discovered to bind to angiostatin (K1-4), and mouse aortic endothelial cells transfected with angiomotin demonstrated decreased migration in response to angiostatin treatment, compared to non-transfected cells (Troyanovsky *et al.*, 2001). Although interaction between angiostatin and angiomotin may explain angiostatin-mediated inhibition of endothelial cell migration and tube formation, it does not account for its inhibitory activity on endothelial cell proliferation or induction of apoptosis.

Another target of angiostatin is an integrin found on the surface of endothelial cells, specifically integrin $\alpha\nu\beta\beta$. Endothelial cell adherence to the basement membrane is mediated by cell-adhesion molecules called integrins. Integrin $\alpha\nu\beta\beta\beta$ is found highly expressed on the surface of activated endothelial cells and is an important regulator of angiogenesis. It is a receptor for vitronectin, fibrinogen, vWF and many other extracellular ligands. In addition, it interacts with angiogenic mediators such as MMP-2 and VEGF to activate endothelial cell proliferation and inhibit cell apoptosis. (Brooks *et al.*, 1994, Horton *et al.*, 1997, Kumar *et al.*, 2004, Liu *et al.*, 2008). Angiostatin (K1-4) was found to bind to bovine arterial endothelial cells in an integrindependent manner, and the predominant receptor bound was integrin $\alpha\nu\beta\beta\beta$ (Tarui *et al.*, 2001).

33

It was proposed that the interaction between angiostatin and integrin $\alpha\nu\beta3$ prevents integrinassociated pro-survival and proliferative signaling. However, the recognition sequence arginineglycine-aspartate motifs for integrin binding are not found within the angiostatin structure, which leaves some unanswered questions as to its molecular interactions with integrins (Wahl *et al.*, 2005).

Annexin II is a calcium-dependent phospholipid binding protein on the surface of endothelial cells that acts as a co-receptor for plasminogen and tissue plasminogen activator, and mediates conversion of plasminogen to plasmin (Hajjar and Krishnan 1999). It has been identified as an endothelial cell surface target for angiostatin (K1-4), and it was proposed that angiostatin competing for binding of annexin II with plasminogen reduces plasmin production (Tuszynski *et al.*, 2002). However, plasminogen competitively binds to annexin II, and plasminogen is far more abundant in human plasma than angiostatin (Wahl *et al.*, 2005). Furthermore, since plasminogen has no anti-angiogenic activity, annexin II binding alone does not account for the inhibitory effects of angiostatin. This would suggest that a distinct angiostatin target is more likely to be responsible for its anti-angiogenic effects on endothelial cells. The search for this target was undertaken by Pizzo and colleagues in 1999, and yielded a distinct angiostatin binding site on the surface of endothelial cells which was identified as an ectopic ATP synthase (Moser *et al.*, 1999).

1.3.3 Ectopic ATP Synthase

In 1999, Moser and Pizzo discovered that angiostatin bound to a distinct site from plasminogen on the surface of endothelial cells. By utilizing Sepharose affinity binding columns with angiostatin (K1-3) and human umbilical endothelial cell plasma membrane extracts, angiostatin was found to bind to the α and β subunits of an F₁F₀ ATP synthase. In comparison, plasminogen was found bound to its already established site, annexin II, but not to the subunits comprising the ATP synthase (Moser *et al.*, 1999). Upon further investigation, antibodies binding the ATP synthase α subunit decrease the anti-proliferative effects of angiostatin *in vitro*, while high affinity binding angiostatin-like antibodies directed against the catalytic site of the ATP synthase domain exhibit potent anti-angiogenic effects (Moser *et al.*, 1999, Chi *et al.*, 2007). These studies established that the α/β subunits of the ATP synthase on the surface of endothelial cells are a distinct binding target for angiostatin, and not plasminogen, indicating that this target may have a role in mediating angiostatin's mechanism of action.

The ATP synthase is an enzyme that exhibits a bidirectional function by synthesizing and hydrolyzing ATP. It is composed of two domains, both of which have distinct functions. The catalytic F₁ domain consists of α , β , δ , γ , and ε subunits and mediates ATP synthesis and hydrolysis. The extracellular catalytic domain's activity (F₁) is coupled to the intermembrane F₀ domain and functions as a proton motor (Boyer 1997, Chi *et al.*, 2007). Protons passing through the membrane drive the rotational motor which is coupled to the ATP enzymatic activity that phosphorylates adenosine diphosphate (ADP) to ATP, or dephosphorylates ATP to ADP (Jonckheere 2012).

35

The F_1F_0 ATP synthase is a protein previously thought only to be found in the mitochondrial matrix: however, Pizzo and colleagues confirmed the presence and functionality of the ATP synthase on the surface of endothelial cells (Moser *et al.*, 2001). Angiostatin inhibition of the F_1 -ATP synthase leads to a reduction in endothelial cell proliferation, migration, and induction of apoptosis (Moser *et al.*, 1999, Moser *et al.*, 2001). ATP synthesis and hydrolysis are inhibited by angiostatin binding, and this appears to be essential for its anti-angiogenic effects (Moser *et al.*, 2001). This is demonstrated in studies where angiostatin (K1-3) competes for binding with an endogenous inhibitor of ATP synthase, called inhibitor of F1 (IF1). IF1 interferes with the ATP hydrolysis function of the ATP synthase enzyme. However, IF1 does not inhibit endothelial tube formation, as angiostatin does, and so it was proposed that both ATP synthesis and hydrolysis inhibition were required to exert this anti-angiogenic effect. (Burwick *et al.*, 2005).

An important aspect of angiostatin's activity via the ATP synthase enzyme is the contribution of the microenvironment. As mentioned previously, one important factor is the extracellular pH (Wahl and Grant 2002). Although angiostatin inhibits the ATP synthase at a wide range of pHs, only when endothelial cells are in an acidic environment do they exhibit impaired proliferation and succumb to apoptosis. This has been shown to occur due to a loss of control of intracellular pH, as *in vitro* endothelial cells suffer from acidosis in response to angiostatin treatment specifically at a low extracellular pH (Wahl and Grant 2000, Wahl *et al.,* 2002). The proton motor of the ATP synthase not only drives ATP/ADP production it also serves to regulate intracellular pH, and interference with this function may lead to pH dysregulation (Boyer 1997).

Therefore, at a low extracellular pH, angiostatin's inhibition of surface ATP synthase activity leads to intracellular acidosis of endothelial cells, which in turn contributes to apoptosis and inhibition of endothelial cell migration and proliferation (Figure 4) (Moser *et al.*, 1999, Wahl and Grant 2002, Vietonmaki *et al.*, 2004, Kenan 2005, Wahl *et al.*, 2005). It is important to keep in mind that the contribution of hypoxic-mediated survival signalling may overcome angiostatin induction of endothelial cell apoptosis (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). Therefore, angiostatin's inhibition of the ATP synthase in a hypoxic environment may result in disruption of other cellular pathways, such as important angiogenic mediators.



Figure 4: Angiostatin inhibition of ectopic endothelial cell surface ATP synthase at a low extracellular pH.

1.3.4 Angiostatin in a Pathological Setting

Anti-angiogenic mediators serve to maintain endothelial cell quiescence and stabilize blood vessel growth (Carmeliet et al., 2003, Potente et al., 2011). While physiologically antiangiogenic mediators can serve as the brakes to regulate angiogenesis, in a pathological setting the anti-angiogenic effects of a factor, such as angiostatin, may contribute to disease progression. Quite often patients suffering from CAD or PAD have co-morbidities such as hypertension or Type 2 diabetes. A common pathological component of these co-morbidities is endothelial dysfunction, which can be caused by a systemic imbalance between vasoconstrictors and vasodilators (Rubanyi 1993, Deanfield et al., 2005, Howangyin and Silvestre 2014). A common characteristic of endothelial dysfunction is a lack of NO bioavailability due to either impaired production or release from the endothelium, or due to excessive oxidative degradation by reactive oxygen species. A lack of NO can have negative consequences on vasodilatory responses, and can contribute to impaired angiogenesis (Bucala et al., 1991, Suuronen et al., 2010, Tousoulis et al., 2012). Within CAD/PAD patient populations that commonly have comorbidities that contribute to endothelial dysfunction, pro-angiogenic therapies such as VEGF gene or protein therapy may not be sufficient to promote angiogenesis to a significant extent due to insufficient NO bioavailability. Animal studies and clinical studies have demonstrated that levels of angiostatin are negatively correlated with extent of collateral blood vessel growth after an ischemic event (Matsunaga et al., 2005, Dodd et al., 2013). Furthermore, studies both in animals and in the clinic, have found that with a lack of NO there is an increase in angiostatin levels. For example, a study by Matsunaga and colleagues (2002) showed that treatment with L-NAME in a canine myocardial ischemia model resulted in increased angiostatin levels.

39

Clinically, CAD patients that have co-existing Type 2 diabetes have been found to have elevated levels of angiostatin, which was associated with a decrease in collateral blood vessel networks (Sodha *et al.*, 2009). In yet another setting of endothelial dysfunctional, blood from patients with idiopathic arterial pulmonary hypertension with increased endothelial microfragments due to endothelium injury were found to have higher levels of angiostatin within their platelets than control healthy individuals (Jurasz *et al.*, 2010).

Thus, in ischemic diseases with endothelium dysfunction, increased levels of angiostatin could be contributing to pathology as its anti-angiogenic activity would create an environment that is not conductive to recovery angiogenesis.

2. HYPOTHESIS AND OBJECTIVES

2.1 Rationale

CAD and PAD are currently leading causes of cardiovascular death worldwide (Roth et al., 2015). In these ischemic disease states, angiogenesis can be an important recovery response that would be potentially therapeutic if enhanced (Meier et al., 2011, Kim et al., 2016). To date, clinical trials investigating pro-angiogenic therapies such as VEGF gene/protein therapy and endothelial progenitor cell/stem cell based therapies have not been significantly effective (Cao 2010, Dragneva et al., 2013). This may be due to a lack of understanding of the contribution of anti-angiogenic factors that could be limiting the extent of therapeutic revascularization. Angiostatin is a potent anti-angiogenic factor which has been found to impair important angiogenic processes such as endothelial cell migration, and proliferation (Cao and Xue 2004, Wahl et al., 2005). To focus on angiostatin as a target to neutralize, it would be valuable to delineate its anti-angiogenic mechanism of action within a hypoxic setting, as would occur in ischemic disease states. Previous studies have demonstrated that during hypoxia angiostatin decreases MMP-2, MT1-MMP and eNOS expression by HMVEC-L. In addition, in vitro studies have shown that angiostatin inhibits HMVEC-L migration specifically during hypoxia (Radziwon-Balicka et al., 2013). Whether these anti-angiogenic mechanisms of angiostatin exist within endothelial cells derived from different tissues, particularly cardiac-derived tissue, is an important study to pursue for the sake of relevancy when investigating angiostatin in the context of CAD.

Investigations into angiostatin's role in reducing tumor growth via inhibition of tumor angiogenesis in mice have been performed (O'Reilly *et al.*, 1996, Griscelli *et al.*, 1998, Dell'Eva *et al.*, 2002). However, there is limited information on what impact excess levels of angiostatin will have on ischemia-induced angiogenesis *in vivo*. This is important as it provides a similar model to studies which correlate elevated angiostatin levels with impaired collateral vessel growth within an ischemic disease setting (Matsunaga *et al.*, 2005, Sodha *et al.*, 2009). Thus, the anti-angiogenic effects of administering angiostatin was investigated within a murine HLI model, a commonly used animal model of acute peripheral artery disease (Niiyama *et al.*, 2009).

Neutralizing angiostatin could be a novel treatment strategy to enhance ischemic-induced angiogenesis in patients who are ineligible for conventional surgical therapies (Lassaletta *et al.*, 2011). Since it has been demonstrated that angiostatin binds to the α/β subunits of the endothelial cell surface ATP synthase, recombinant forms of these subunits can be potentially used as decoy receptors to bind angiostatin. Neutralizing angiostatin, in conjunction with providing pro-angiogenic factors, could create a microvascular environment conductive to angiogenesis during ischemia. Thus, the potential neutralization of angiostatin within a hypoxic setting was investigated.

2.2 Hypothesis

Angiostatin will reduce expression of angiogenic mediators, MMP-2 and eNOS, in HMVEC-C during hypoxia, and impair angiogenesis in an HLI model. Neutralization of angiostatin with ATP synthase α and β subunits will restore HMVEC-C MMP-mediated angiogenic responses without interfering with fibrinolysis.

2.3 Objectives of the Study

1. Determine if angiostatin decreases pro-MMP-2/MMP-2 and eNOS protein expression in HMVEC-C during hypoxia.

2. Investigate the effects of administering angiostatin on angiogenesis in a mouse HLI model.

3. Investigate if angiostatin neutralization using ATP synthase α and β subunit decoy receptors will restore MMP-2 protein expression in HMVEC-C during hypoxia.

4. Evaluate if angiostatin neutralization using ATP synthase α and β subunit decoy receptors will restore HMVEC-C MMP-dependent migration during hypoxia.

5. Determine if ATP synthase α and β subunit decoy receptors interfere with fibrinolysis *in vitro*.

3. MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Reagents

Native human angiostatin K1-4 isolated from plasma was obtained from Thermofisher Scientific (Rockford, IL, USA). ATP synthase α , β , and δ subunits were obtained from MyBiosource.com (San Diego, California). Recombinant VEGF, recombinant human tPA, and recombinant human MMP-2 standard was ordered from R&D Systems (Minneapolis, MN, USA). Thrombin was purchased from Chrono-Log Corporation (Havertown, PA, USA) and aprotinin from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA). HMVEC-C were purchased from Lonza (Walkersville, MD, USA). Primary antibodies were obtained as follows: monoclonal eNOS (Clone #: eNOS/NOS Type III) antibody and mouse VE-Cadherin antibody (Clone#: 11D4.1) from BD Biosciences (Mississauga, ON, Canada). Two monoclonal eNOS antibodies (Clone#: M221 and 6H2), and polyclonal mouse MMP-2 antibody from abcam (Toronto, ON, Canada). Unless otherwise indicated, all other reagents were obtained from Sigma-Aldrich (St. Louis, MO, USA).

3.2 Cell culture

Primary cardiac-derived human microvascular endothelial cells (HMVEC-C) were cultured in endothelial cell basal medium (EBM-2, Lonza, Walkersville, MD, USA) supplemented with hydrocortisone and growth factors: human fibroblastic growth factor-b, VEGF, R3-insulin-like growth factor-1, ascorbic acid, human epidermal growth factor, GA-1000 and 5% fetal bovine serum (FBS) (EGM-2 MV Singlequotes, Lonza, Walkersville, MD, USA). Cells were grown in a humidified cell incubator supplied with 5% CO₂ at 37°C. Fresh medium was exchanged every second day, and cells were passaged once approximately 80% confluent. Cells from passages 4-7 were used in experiments. To detach cells from flasks, they were incubated with Trypsin-Ethylenediaminetetraacetic acid (Trypsin-EDTA) for five minutes with gentle shaking. Trypsin-EDTA was neutralized with twice the volume of EGM-2 medium. Collected cells were pelleted by spinning at 130 relative centrifugal force for 7 minutes at 18°C in an Eppendorf 5810R centrifuge (Eppendorf, Hamburg, Germany), and re-suspended in appropriate medium or buffer for further experiments.

3.3. HMVEC-C treatment with angiostatin in normoxic and hypoxic conditions

HMVEC-C were cultured and detached as described under methods, section 3.2. An equal volume of cells was seeded into 24-well plates (Falcon Corning, Tewksbury, MA, USA) and grown in EGM-2 medium. Once approximately 80% confluent, cells were serum starved for 8 hours with 0.5% FBS in EBM-2 (growth factor-free medium). Cells were treated with either angiostatin (600nM) or phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), and one group of cells was incubated for 48 hours in normoxic (74% N₂, 21% O₂, and 5% CO₂) conditions, while the other in hypoxic conditions. Hypoxic conditions were simulated by incubation in a Billups-Rothenberg chamber (Billups-Rothenberg Inc., San Diego, CA, USA), continuously gassed with 95% N₂ and 5% CO₂ at 37°C. After 48 hours, all floating and attached cells were collected and pooled together, and washed once in PBS. Washed cells were pelleted down by spinning at 10 000gs for 5 minutes, and pellet was frozen at -80°C until analyzed by gelatin zymography or western blot.

3.4 Gelatin zymography analysis of HMVEC-C pro-MMP-2/MMP-2 protein expression.

All sample preparation was performed on ice. Cell pellets were thawed and re-suspended in 20µl of sodium dodecyl sulfate (SDS) free-homogenizing buffer (Tris hydrochloride (HCL)/base 50mM + 3.1 mM sucrose + 10% protease inhibitors). Homogenized lysates were sonicated using a Misonix Ultrasonic Liquid Processor (Misonix Inc., Farmingdale, NY, USA) for five seconds, left to rest for 20 seconds on ice, then sonicated for another five seconds. Loading buffer (lacking β -mercaptoethanol) (5µl) was added to each sample to make a final sample volume of 25µl. The entire sample volume was loaded on to a 20mg/ml gelatinincorporated 8% SDS-polyacrylamide gel. As a molecular weight reference, 15µl of Precision Plus Protein Ladder (Bio-rad, Hercules, CA, USA) was loaded adjacent to samples. Recombinant human MMP-2 was loaded as a standard. Gel electrophoresis was performed using a Bio-Rad PowerPac HC (Bio-rad, Hercules, CA, USA) at 150 volts on ice (at 4°C).

According to a previously published protocol (Govindasamy *et al.*, 2017), after run completion the gel was cut at the 50kDa mark, using the molecular weight marker as a reference. The portion >50kDa was washed three times for 20 minutes in 2% Triton-X-100 (Thermofisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) followed by two 20 minute washes in zymography buffer (2M Tris HCl, 0.15M NaCl, 5mM CaCl₂·2H₂O, 0.5% NaN₃). The gel was incubated in fresh zymography buffer at 37°C overnight to allow for enzyme activity to degrade gelatin substrate. To image degraded portions of gelatin, the gel was stained with Coomassie Blue for two hours followed by de-staining using 4% methanol + 8% acetic acid solution. Gels were imaged using a VersaDoc Imaging System (Bio-rad, Hercules, CA, USA), and QuantityOne software was used to analyze densitometry of degraded bands of gelatin. The gel section <50kDa mark was transferred on to a 0.45 μ m thick polyvinylidine difluoride (PVDF) (Bio-rad, Hercules, CA, USA) membrane using a semi-dry transfer method (Trans-Blot SD, 25 volts, 30 minutes). After transfer, the PVDF membrane was blocked overnight in 5% skim milk in Tween tris buffered saline (TTBS), and then probed with a monoclonal β -actin antibody conjugated with horseradish peroxidase (1:40 000 dilution) for 30 minutes followed by four wash cycles in TTBS. Chemiluminescence was detected using an enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL) prime western blotting detection reagent (GE Healthcare, Chicago, IL, USA), and imaged using a VersaDoc Imaging System. Band densitometry was analyzed using Quantity One software. Band densitometry from the upper portion gel (zymogram >50kDa) was normalized to the respective β -actin bands from the lower portion of gel (<50kDa). Data was then normalized and expressed as mean of % of normoxic control.

3.5 Western blot analysis of HMVEC-C eNOS protein expression

Cell pellets were thawed and re-suspended in homogenizing buffer (Tris HCL/base 50mM + 3.1 mM sucrose + 10% protease inhibitors + 0.1% SDS). Homogenized lysates were sonicated three times for five seconds. Samples were further denatured by boiling for five minutes, and 5µl of loading buffer (containing denaturing agent: 8% SDS and reducing agent: 16% β -mercaptoethanol) was added to make a final sample volume of 25 μ l. The entire sample volume was loaded per lane on to an 8% SDS-polyacrylamide gel. As a molecular weight reference 15µl of Precision Plus Protein Ladder was loaded adjacent to samples. Gel electrophoresis was performed using a Bio-Rad Powerpac HC system set at 150 volts. After run, protein was transferred from the gel on to a 0.45µm PVDF membrane using a semi-dry method (Trans-Blot SD, 25 volts, 30 minutes). After protein transfer, PVDF membranes were cut at the 50kDa molecular weight marks. The top membrane (>50kDa) was blocked in 5% skim milk in TTBS for one hour at room temperature followed by overnight incubation at 4°C with anti-eNOS M221, anti-eNOS 6H2, and anti-eNOS/NOS Type III (each antibody added at 1:1000 dilution). After incubation with primary antibodies each membrane was washed four times for five minutes in TTBS, then probed for one hour at room temperature with anti-mouse IgG conjugated to horse radish peroxidase (1:2000 dilution). The lower membrane (<50kDa) was blocked in 5% skim milk in TTBS at 4°C overnight, followed by a 30-minute incubation with a monoclonal β-actin antibody conjugated to horse radish peroxidase (1:40 000 dilution). This was followed by a final four washes with TTBS for all membranes, and developed using an ECL kit. Specificity of all antibodies have been previously established in our lab (Radziwon-Balicka et al., 2013).

Chemiluminescence and band densitometry was measured and analyzed as described under methods, section 3.4. Protein levels were calculated by normalizing densitometry of eNOS protein bands to their respective β -actin bands. Data was normalized and expressed as mean of % of normoxic control.

3.6 Murine hind limb ischemia model

Transgenic eNOS-GFP (C57BL/6 background) mice were obtained from Dr. Kram's Lab from Imperial College, London, UK, and bred by the Jurasz laboratory. These mice express mouse eNOS as well as a functional human eNOS gene fused to green fluorescent protein (GFP) which allows for visualization of eNOS-GFP in tissue (van Haperen *et al.*, 2003). All procedures, medications and protocols were approved by the University of Alberta Health Sciences Welfare Committee and were performed in strict adherence to the guidelines set by the Canadian Council of Animal Care.

Male hemizygous eNOS-GFP mice (12-14 months old) were anesthetized using 1.5%-2% isoflurane to obtain a surgical plane of anesthesia, and animals were placed on a 37°C waterheating pad to maintain body temperature. Sterile PBS or angiostatin (30µg) was administered via intraperitoneal injection. Dose represents a physiological concentration of angiostatin (30µg/ml) once administered. Mice were shaved of hair around the lower abdomen and hind leg areas. A 1cm incision was made just proximal of the right knee joint, and the femoral artery was exposed and isolated from the nerve bundle and femoral vein. A small section of the femoral artery between the superficial epigastric artery and popliteal bifurcation was tied with 10.0 sutures and the artery was excised in between suture ties, refer to Figure 5. The incision was closed using subcutaneous sutures and superficial application of tissue glue (3M Vetbond, St. Paul, U.S.A.). Laser Doppler Scan Protocol: Mice were anesthetized using 1.5%-2% isoflurane gas. Animals were kept on a 37°C water-heating pad to maintain body temperature during scans. The lower abdomen area and hind limbs were shaved of hair. A Moor Laser Doppler Line Scanner (Moor Instruments Inc., Wilmington, DE, USA) was used to measure blood perfusion in both the ischemic and non-ischemic hind limbs. Laser Doppler scans were performed at the following time points: pre-operatively, post-operatively, day 7, 14, 21 and 28. At the 28-day post-operative mark, mice were euthanized via ketamine injection and as a secondary euthanizing method cervical dislocation was performed. Area of blood perfusion was calculated from both the ischemic and non-ischemic hind limbs. Data expressed as mean perfusion ratio between the ischemic and non-ischemic hind limbs. Image (I/NI).

3.7 Confocal microscopy

To further determine the effects of angiostatin on angiogenesis in the HLI model, angiogenic markers, eNOS and MMP-2, were assessed via confocal microscopy of gastrocnemius muscle tissue. To confirm eNOS-GFP fluorescence was endothelium derived, immunofluorescent microscopy of VE-cadherin, an endothelial cell marker, was performed. At the 28-day endpoint for the HLI experiment, gastrocnemius muscle tissue (Figure 5) from both hind limbs of each mouse were dissected and flash frozen in liquid nitrogen. Tissue samples were cryoembedded in optimal cutting temperature compound, and cryosectioned on to slides for microscopy (histology performed on a service by fee basis by HistoCore at University of Alberta). To image eNOS-GFP, slides were mounted using Prolong Diamond Antifade Mountant medium (Life Technologies, Carlsbad, CA, USA) and coverslipped. Immunofluorescent microscopy of VE-cadherin and MMP-2 was performed as follows. Tissue slides were blocked in 5% bovine serum albumin (BSA)+0.02% Tween20 in sterile PBS for one hour, followed by staining with primary antibodies against either mouse VE-cadherin (1:100 dilution) or mouse MMP-2 (2µg/ml) overnight at 4°C. The next day slides were washed three times for five minutes with sterile PBS, followed by staining with appropriate secondary antibodies (VE-cadherin: secondary Alexa Fluor 568 goat anti-rat IgG (1:200 dilution) (Thermofisher Scientific, Rockford, IL, USA) or MMP: secondary Alexa Fluor 647 donkey anti-rabbit IgG (4µg/ml) (abcam, Toronto, ON, Canada)) for two hours at room temperature. After a final wash cycle with sterile PBS, slides were mounted using Prolong Diamond Antifade Mountant medium and coverslipped.

53

Control slides for VE-cadherin and MMP-2 were obtained by performing the protocol described above, with exclusion of the primary antibodies. All tissue sections were imaged using magnifications of 10x or 20x on a Leica TCS SP5 confocal microscope (Leica Microsystems, Concord, ON, Canada).



Figure 5: Diagram of approximate site of femoral artery ligation in the right hind limb. The femoral artery in the right hind limb was excised between the superficial epigastric artery and popliteal bifurcation to induce acute ischemia. At experiment endpoint (day 28), gastrocnemius muscle tissue from both hind limbs were harvested for confocal microscopy.

3.8 Processing of the ATP synthase subunits

ATP synthase subunits were processed under sterile conditions before use in experiments to remove the glycerol preservative that previously caused cell contamination. ATP synthase α , β , and δ subunits were first dialyzed using EBM-2 medium as dialysis buffer in 3.5 K MWCO Slide-a-lyzer dialysis devices (ThermoScientific, Rockford, IL, USA). Subunits were dialyzed for two hours at 4°C, then dialysis buffer was replaced with fresh buffer and dialyzed again overnight at 4°C. After dialyzing, all subunits were sterile filtered through 2µm filters. To reconcentrate the subunits, they were spun in Amicon Ultra Centrifugal Filter units (EMD Millipore, Billerica, MA, USA) at 14 000gs for one hour at 4°C. To determine the final concentration of the processed subunits, a 1µl sample of each was diluted 15x in double distilled H₂O and loaded on to an SDS-polyacrylamide gel along with serial dilutions of BSA (0.125-1mg/ml) to generate a protein standard curve. Gel electrophoresis was performed using a Bio-Rad PowerPac HC, set at 150 volts. Upon run completion, the gel was stained in Coomassie Blue for two hours followed by overnight de-staining in 4% methanol + 8% acetic acid solution. Figure 6 is a representative gel after staining/de-staining procedures. Stained protein bands in the gel were imaged using a VersaDoc Imaging System, and densitometry was analyzed using QuantityOne Software. Utilizing the BSA standard curve, the protein concentration of the subunits was determined.



Figure 6: Representative gel with processed ATP synthase α and δ subunits. ATP synthase α and δ subunits loaded after dialyzing and concentrating, and BSA serial diluted from 1mg/ml to 0.125mg/ml loaded as a protein standard curve (MW: molecular weight).
3.9 Gelatin zymography analysis of HMVEC-C pro-MMP-2/MMP-2 protein expression in response to neutralization of angiostatin during hypoxia

<u>Cell Treatment:</u> HMVEC-C were grown under standard conditions as described under methods, section 3.2. Once approximately 80% confluent, cells were serum starved for 8 hours in 0.5% FBS in EBM-2. Cells were treated with PBS, angiostatin (600nM), angiostatin (600nM) + ATP synthase α subunit (3 μ M), angiostatin (600nM) + ATP synthase β subunit (3 μ M), and angiostatin (600nM) + ATP synthase δ subunit (3 μ M). To ensure any results are not due to the subunits interacting with the endothelial cells, the ATP synthase δ subunit, which does not bind to angiostatin, was used as a control (Moser *et al.*, 1999). HMVEC-C were incubated for 48 hours in hypoxic conditions (95% N₂, 5% CO₂). After incubation period, floating and attached cells were collected and pooled together, washed once in PBS, and pelleted. Cell pellets were frozen at -80°C until ready for analysis.

<u>Gelatin Zymography:</u> Cell lysate processing, gel electrophoresis protocol, and zymogram/ β -actin analysis was performed as described under methods, section 3.4. Data was normalized and expressed as % of PBS control.

3.10 Modified Boyden chamber assay

<u>Preparation of Cell Culture Inserts:</u> Transparent 8.0 μM porous 24-well plate inserts (Falcon Corning, Tewksbury, MA, USA) were coated with 1mg/ml gelatin and incubated at 37°C for 2 hours to allow gelatin to solidify. Excess gelatin was aspirated and inserts were left to dry overnight under UV light, then gently washed once with 100μl of PBS.

Once approximately 80% confluent, HMVEC-C were serum starved for 8 hours in 0.5% FBS in EBM-2. Cells were detached as described under methods, section 3.2, and seeded into the top chamber of the gelatin-coated inserts at a concentration of 25 000 cells/insert. Recombinant VEGF (10ng/ml) in 0.5% FBS in EBM-2 was added to the corresponding bottom chambers to serve as a chemoattractant. HMVEC-C were treated with PBS, angiostatin (600nM), angiostatin (600nM) + ATP synthase α subunit (3 μ M), angiostatin (600nM) + ATP synthase β subunit $(3\mu M)$, and angiostatin (600nM) + ATP synthase δ subunit $(3\mu M)$. The system was incubated in hypoxia (95% N₂, 5% CO₂) for 48 hours. After incubation, the top layer of each insert was scraped gently using a Q-tip to remove the non-migrated cells. Migrated cells at the bottom of the insert were fixed in 4% formaldehyde in PBS for five minutes, followed by staining using Diffquik stain (Siemens Healthcare Diagnostics Inc., Newark, DE, USA). Stained cells from five fields of view of 24-well inserts were imaged at 10x magnification using an Olympic CKX41 microscope (Olympus America Inc., Melville, NY) equipped with an *Infinity* 1 digital camera. Figure 7 indicates the locations of the five fields of view captured from each 24-well insert. Cells were counted using ImageJ software, and expressed as total migrated cells from five-fields of view normalized to PBS control.



Figure 7: Grid representing the locations of the five-fields of view captured from 24-well inserts.

3.11 Fibrinolysis assay

Human platelet-poor plasma from healthy donors was collected as a by-product from experimental work approved by the University of Alberta Research Ethics Board for Dr. Jurasz's lab (Pro00029836). Briefly, platelet-poor plasma was reconstituted with 5mM CaCl₂. In a 96well plate, 100µl of reconstituted platelet poor plasma was added per well and treated with thrombin (1U/ml), tissue plasminogen activator (tPA)(1µg/ml), aprotinin (10µM) as a positive control, and the ATP synthase α , β , and δ subunits (3µM). Refer to Table 2 for summary of treatment regime. The system was incubated at 37°C for 2 hours. Clot formation was measured as mean absorbance using a Bio-rad iMark microplate reader (Bio-rad, Hercules, CA, USA). Extent of fibrinolysis in tPA control group was measured as mean absorbance with thrombin alone compared to thrombin + tPA (tPA control) after two hours. Mean absorbance was then measured for all treatment groups and normalized to tPA control, and expressed as % fibrinolysis.

Group	Thrombin	TPA	Aprotinin	ΑΤΡα	ΑΤΡβ	ΑΤΡδ
	1U/ml	1µg/ml	10µM	3μΜ	3μΜ	3μΜ
1	\checkmark					
2	\checkmark	\checkmark				
3	\checkmark	\checkmark				
4	\checkmark	\checkmark		\checkmark		
5	\checkmark	\checkmark			\checkmark	
6	\checkmark	\checkmark				

Table 2: Treatment array for fibrinolysis assay. Reagents added to 100µl of platelet poor plasma per group.

3.12 Statistics

Statistical analysis was performed using Graphpad Prism 7. Results were expressed as the mean±standard error of the mean. Comparisons of variance between multiple groups was performed using one-way analysis of variance (ANOVA), with Tukey's multiple comparisons test or Dunnett's multiple comparisons test where appropriate. Comparisons between more than one variable was performed using two-way ANOVA, with Sidak's multiple comparisons test. P values less than 0.05 were considered statistically significant. N numbers represent number of independent experiments.

4. RESULTS

4.1 Angiostatin decreases total pro-MMP-2/MMP-2, and eNOS protein expression by HMVEC-C during hypoxia

Angiostatin has been shown to inhibit the expression of MMP-2 and eNOS, by hypoxic HMVEC-L (Radziwon-Balicka et al., 2013). In the present study, similar experiments were repeated in HMVEC-C, as endothelial cells derived from different tissues may have varying responses to angiostatin. Furthermore, to investigate angiostatin's mechanism of action within a context of CAD, it is more relevant to delineate its anti-angiogenic effects on endothelial cells derived from cardiac microvasculature. Therefore, HMVEC-C were treated with a physiological concentration of angiostatin (600nM) and incubated in either normoxia or hypoxia for 48 hours. Gelatin zymography analysis of HMVEC-C lysates showed that hypoxic control cells exhibited significantly increased levels of total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 (212.3±43%) compared to normoxic control cells (100%). However, angiostatin decreased total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 $(101\pm28\%)$ in hypoxic HMVEC-C when compared to hypoxic control $(212.3\pm43\%)$. This reduction was not observed in HMVEC-C treated with angiostatin in normoxic conditions (94.8±19%) as shown in Figure 8, as they had similar total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 protein as normoxic control (100%). Western blot analysis of eNOS protein expression by HMVEC-C indicated that cells treated with angiostatin during hypoxic conditions had significantly decreased levels of eNOS (48.8±12%) compared to angiostatin-treated cells in normoxic conditions $(119.6\pm27\%)$.

In normoxic HMVEC-C, eNOS protein expression in response to angiostatin treatment (119.6 \pm 27%) was not significantly different than control (100%) as depicted in Figure 9. Data expressed as mean of % of normoxia control (N-PBS) \pm standard error of the mean.



Figure 8: (A and B) Representative zymogram with corresponding western blot of β -actin loading control and summary bar graph of data measuring total pro-MMP-2/MMP-2 protein expression by HMVEC-C treated with angiostatin (AS) in normoxic (N) and hypoxic (H) environments. Statistics: One-way ANOVA, parametric, Tukey's multiple comparisons test, *p<0.05 vs hypoxia control, #p<0.01 vs normoxia control, n=4.



Figure 9: (A and B) Representative western blot and summary bar graph of data measuring eNOS protein expression by HMVEC-C treated with angiostatin (AS) in normoxic (N) and hypoxic (H) environments. Statistics: One-way ANOVA, parametric, Tukey's multiple comparisons test, *p<0.05 vs N-AS, n=5.

4.2 Angiostatin decreases blood flow recovery in a murine HLI model

In a setting of PAD, blood flow to an extremity is compromised leading to hypoxia. To mimic this disease state, a murine hind limb ischemia model was implemented. Mice produce their own endogenous angiostatin (O'Reilly *et al.*, 1994), and administering a dose of angiostatin at time of femoral artery ligation allows for investigation into whether excess angiostatin has an inhibitory effect on ischemia-induced angiogenesis.

In this model, the femoral artery in the right hind limb of male transgenic eNOS-GFP mice was ligated and excised. As a result, decreased blood perfusion to the right hind limb was observed post-operatively via laser Doppler scanner imaging as depicted in Figure 10. The ratio of blood perfusion between the ischemic (I) and non-ischemic (NI) hind limb was then measured every 7 days over a period of 28 days. Overall, treatment had an effect on recovery blood perfusion over the course of the experimental period, with angiostatin-administered mice exhibiting a significant decrease in blood perfusion ratio (0.45 ± 0.07 I/NI) when compared to PBS-administered mice (0.61 ± 0.08 I/NI) at day 14, as summarized in Figure 11. Data expressed as mean I/NI ± standard error of the mean.



Figure 10: Representative laser Doppler images of hind limb blood perfusion from PBSadministered and angiostatin (AS)-administered mice. Laser Doppler scans were taken preoperatively, post-operatively, and at day 7, 14, 21 and 28.



Figure 11: Summary graph of hind limb perfusion ratio of ischemic/non-ischemic (I/NI) limbs over 28 days from PBS-administered and angiostatin (AS)-administered mice. Statistics: Two-way ANOVA analysis, Sidak's multiple comparisons test, *p<0.05 PBS vs AS at day 14, n=8.

4.3 Ischemic gastrocnemius muscle tissue from angiostatin-administered mice exhibit reduced eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 expression

To determine if administering angiostatin in a HLI model influences revascularization, angiogenic mediators, eNOS and MMP-2, in gastrocnemius muscle tissue from the non-ischemic and ischemic hind limb were assessed via confocal microscopy. Furthermore, to determine if the eNOS-GFP signal was derived from the endothelium, tissue was immunostained for an endothelial cell marker, VE-cadherin. Gastrocnemius muscle tissue from hemizygous transgenic eNOS-GFP mice (Figure 12, Panel C) exhibited a green fluorescent signal which was not observed in wild type mice tissue (Figure 12, Panel A). In addition, eNOS-GFP fluorescence was confirmed to co-localize with staining of VE-cadherin in the gastrocnemius muscle tissue (Figure 12, Panel E). As demonstrated in Figure 13, ischemic tissue from PBS-administered mice (Figure 13, Panel B) had increased eNOS-GFP expression compared to tissue derived from the corresponding non-ischemic hind limb (Figure 13, Panel A). This pattern, however, was not observed in angiostatin-administered mice, as the eNOS-GFP fluorescent intensity was comparable between ischemic tissue and non-ischemic tissue (Figure 13, Panel D and C, respectively). Regarding MMP-2, gastrocnemius muscle tissue from the ischemic hind limb of PBS-administered mice (Figure 14, Panel C) exhibited increased staining of MMP-2 when compared to corresponding non-ischemic tissue (Figure 14, Panel B). Ischemic tissue from angiostatin-administered mice (Figure 14, Panel E), however, did not exhibit an increase in MMP-2, as the expression was comparable to non-ischemic tissue (Figure 14, Panel D). When directly comparing ischemic tissue between PBS-administered mice and angiostatinadministered mice, there was an observable decrease in eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 expression from ischemic tissue derived from angiostatin-administered mice, as depicted in Figure 15.



Figure 12: Confocal microscopy of eNOS-GFP co-localized with VE-cadherin in gastrocnemius muscle tissue. **(A)** Control: gastrocnemius muscle tissue from a wild type male mouse. **(B)** Control: primary VE-cadherin antibody excluded **(C)** Gastrocnemius muscle tissue from a transgenic hemizygous eNOS-GFP mouse. **(D)** Gastrocnemius muscle tissue stained for VE-cadherin. **(E)** Overlay of eNOS-GFP and VE-cadherin fluorescence. Images of eNOS-GFP were obtained by exciting tissue with an argon laser (488nm). Images of VE-cadherin staining were obtained by exciting tissue with a helium neon laser (543nm). All images taken with a Leica TCS SP5 confocal microscope at 20x magnification.



Figure 13: Confocal microscopy of eNOS-GFP in gastrocnemius muscle tissue derived from PBS-administered and angiostatin-administered mice. (**A**) Non-ischemic tissue from PBS-administered mouse. (**B**) Ischemic tissue from PBS-administered mouse. (**C**) Non-ischemic tissue from angiostatin-administered mouse. (**D**) Ischemic tissue from angiostatin-administered mouse. Images of eNOS-GFP were obtained by exciting tissue with an argon laser (488nm). Images taken with a Leica TCS SP5 confocal microscope at 10x magnification.



Figure 14: Confocal microscopy of MMP-2 in gastrocnemius muscle tissue derived from PBSadministered and angiostatin-administered mice. **(A)** Control: primary MMP-2 antibody excluded. **(B)** Non-ischemic tissue from PBS-administered mouse. **(C)** Ischemic tissue from PBS-administered mouse. **(D)** Non-ischemic tissue from angiostatin-administered mouse. **(E)** Ischemic tissue from angiostatin-administered mouse. Images of MMP-2 staining were obtained by exciting tissue with a helium neon laser (633nm). Images taken with a Leica TCS SP5 confocal microscope at 20x magnification.



Figure 15: Confocal microscopy of eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 from ischemic gastrocnemius muscle tissue derived from PBS-administered and angiostatin-administered mice. (**A**) eNOS-GFP fluorescence from ischemic tissue derived from PBS-administered mouse tissue. (**B**) MMP-2 staining of ischemic tissue derived from PBS-administered mouse. (**C**) Overlay of eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 signals from ischemic tissue derived from PBS-administered mouse. (**D**) eNOS-GFP fluorescence from ischemic tissue derived from angiostatin-administered mouse. (**E**) MMP-2 staining from ischemic tissue derived from angiostatin-administered mouse. (**F**) Overlay of eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 signals from ischemic tissue derived from angiostatin-administered mouse. (**F**) Overlay of eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 signals from ischemic tissue derived from angiostatin-administered mouse. (**F**) Overlay of eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 signals from ischemic tissue derived from angiostatin-administered mouse. (**F**) Overlay of eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 signals from ischemic tissue derived from angiostatin-administered mouse. (**F**) Overlay of eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 signals from ischemic tissue derived from angiostatin-administered mouse. (**F**) Overlay of eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 signals from ischemic tissue derived from angiostatin-administered mouse. (**F**) Overlay of eNOS-GFP and MMP-2 signals from ischemic tissue derived from angiostatin-administered mouse.

4.4 The ATP synthase α subunit neutralizes angiostatin to increase total pro-MMP-2/MMP-2 in hypoxic HMVEC-C

A potential novel approach to promoting angiogenesis in a hypoxic environment is to negate the anti-angiogenic effects of angiostatin on hypoxic endothelial cells. This may be achieved by utilizing recombinant ATP synthase subunits as decoy receptors to bind angiostatin therefore preventing its inhibition of endothelial cell MMP-2 protein expression during hypoxia. HMVEC-C were treated with angiostatin (600nM) and angiostatin in the presence of either the ATP synthase α , β or δ (3µM) subunit, followed by incubation for 48 hours in hypoxic conditions. Cell lysates were analyzed via gelatin zymography for total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 levels. As presented in Figure 16, HMVEC-C co-treated with angiostatin and the ATP synthase a subunit had significantly higher levels of total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 (165.7±13%) after 48 hours of hypoxia compared to cells treated with angiostatin alone (59.3±10%), and with cells cotreated with angiostatin and the ATP synthase δ subunit (73.3±37%). Cells co-incubated with angiostatin and the ATP synthase β subunit exhibited a trend towards increased average total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 (127.7%±35%) compared to angiostatin alone (59.3±10%), however this was not statistically significant. Data expressed as mean of % of PBS control \pm standard error of the mean.



Figure 16: (A and B) Representative zymogram and corresponding β -actin loading control western blot and summary bar graph measuring total pro-MMP-2/MMP-2 protein expression by hypoxic HMVEC-C treated with angiostatin (AS) (600nM) in the presence of ATP synthase subunits (3µM). Statistics: One-way ANOVA, parametric, Tukey's multiple comparisons test, *p<0.05 vs AS, #p<0.05 vs AS+ δ , n=3.

4.5 ATP synthase α subunit neutralizes angiostatin to increase HMVEC-C MMPdependent migration during hypoxia

Angiostatin inhibits endothelial cell migration, an early step in angiogenesis (Ji et al., 1998, Eriksson et al., 2003, Radziwon-Balicka et al., 2013). Therefore, ATP synthase subunits were used to investigate if neutralizing angiostatin would restore HMVEC-C MMP-dependent migration in hypoxic conditions. MMP-dependence within this migration assay has been established in a previous study (Radziwon-Balicka et al., 2013). Utilizing a modified Boyden chamber assay, MMP-dependent endothelial cell migration towards a VEGF-gradient was analyzed in response to treatment with angiostatin (600nM) in the presence of either the ATP synthase α , β or δ (3µM) subunits during 48 hours of hypoxia. Overall, there was a significant difference in HMVEC-C migration between treatments, with HMVEC-C treated with angiostatin exhibiting an average decrease in migration ($64.3\pm7\%$). While HMVEC-C co-treated with angiostatin and the ATP synthase α subunit exhibited a similar extent of migration (99±18%) to PBS control (100%). The average extent of HMVEC-C migration with angiostatin in the presence of the ATP synthase β subunit (53±17%) and the ATP synthase δ subunit (53±16%) were similar to angiostatin alone $(64.3\pm7\%)$ (Figure 17 and 18). Data expressed as mean % of PBS control \pm standard error of the mean.



Figure 17: Representative images of stained migrated cells from one field of view at 10x magnification. (A) PBS. (B) Angiostatin (600nM). (C) Angiostatin (600nM) +ATP synthase α subunit (3 μ M). (D) Angiostatin (600nM) +ATP synthase β subunit (3 μ M). (E) Angiostatin (600nM) +ATP synthase δ subunit (3 μ M). Arrows denote stained migrated cells.



Figure 18: Summary bar graph measuring total HMVEC-C migration in the presence of angiostatin (AS) and the ATP synthase subunits during hypoxia. Statistics: One-way ANOVA, parametric, Tukey's multiple comparisons test, p<0.05 between treatments, n=3.

4.6 ATP synthase α , β , and δ subunits do not interfere with fibrinolysis *in vitro*

An important question to investigate in this research is whether the ATP synthase subunits interfere with fibrinolysis. Angiostatin is derived from a fibrinolytic protein, plasminogen, and as a result there are structural similarities. Therefore, it is important to determine if the ATP synthase subunits bind to plasminogen, as this would interfere with plasminogen conversion to plasmin, thus disrupting fibrin clot break down, as summarized in Figure 19. A disruption of fibrinolytic processes would be a barrier towards translating this research into a clinical setting. Fibrinolysis was assessed as % fibrinolysis compared to tPA alone (control). Aprotinin was used as a positive control, as it is a serine protease inhibitor which inhibits both plasminogen and plasmin. As presented in Figure 20, % fibrinolysis of thrombininduced clots in the presence of aprotinin (10 μ M) was significantly decreased (29.7±15% of tPA control). Percent fibrinolysis of thrombin-induced clots in the presence of the ATP synthase α (96.2±4%), β (89.8±13%), and δ (104±3%) (3 μ M) subunits were not significantly different than tPA control (100%) (Figure 20). Data expressed as mean of % of tPA control ± standard error of the mean.



Figure 19: Schematic diagram of fibrin clot formation and fibrinolysis. Tissue plasminogen activator (tPA), urokinase plasminogen activator (uPA).



Figure 20: Summary bar graph of data representing % fibrinolysis. Percent fibrinolysis in tissue plasminogen activator (tPA) control group was measured as mean absorbance with thrombin alone compared to thrombin + tPA. Mean absorbance for treatment groups (aprotinin, ATP synthase α , β , and δ subunits) were normalized to tPA control. Statistics: One-way ANOVA, parametric, Dunnett's multiple comparisons test, ***p<0.001 vs tPA, n=3.

5. DISCUSSION

In ischemic diseases, such as CAD and PAD, therapeutic angiogenesis is an alternate treatment strategy for patients who are ineligible for conventional surgeries such as some patients with co-morbidities such as Type 2 diabetes (Aronson and Edelman 2010). In some patients, when arteries are obstructed due to the buildup of atherosclerotic plaque, either existing collateral vessels are remodeled or angiogenesis is stimulated to vascularize ischemic tissues (Helisch and Schaper 2003, Meier et al., 2013). Clinical trials have mainly pursued the benefits of enhancing pro-angiogenic factors such as VEGF gene/protein therapy or endothelial progenitor cell/stem cell therapies. Unfortunately, results from these trials were not significantly effective in promoting therapeutic angiogenesis (Cao 2010, Dragneva et al., 2013). A possible limitation of these trials is that the contribution of both pro-angiogenic and anti-angiogenic mediators need to be addressed to create an optimal environment for revascularization. Angiostatin has been identified as a platelet-derived anti-angiogenic factor which has potent inhibitory effects on endothelial cell migration, proliferation, survival and vessel tube formation (O'Reilly et al., 1994, Ji et al., 1998, Lucas et al., 1998, Jurasz et al., 2003). As previously mentioned, CAD patients commonly have co-morbidities, such as Type 2 diabetes, and studies have found that these patients can have elevated levels of angiostatin (Sodha et al., 2009). Even if this patient population receives pro-angiogenic factor therapy, the extent of stimulated angiogenesis may be limited due to high levels of this potent anti-angiogenic factor. In fact, investigations undertaken in CAD patients observed that elevated angiostatin levels were negatively associated with coronary collateral blood vessel growth (Matsunaga et al., 2005).

Thus, angiostatin is a potential target to neutralize for the promotion of therapeutic angiogenesis.

At a low extracellular pH, angiostatin induces intracellular acidosis via inhibition of an ectopic ATP synthase on endothelial cells. By this mechanism, it has been shown to induce endothelial cell apoptosis, and inhibit endothelial cell migration (Moser *et al.*, 1999., Moser *et al.*, 2001, Burwick *et al.*, 2005). However, within a hypoxic environment, which can also induce an acidic extracellular pH, endothelial cells will upregulate HIF-1 leading to increased VEGF transcription thereby activating pro-survival mechanisms that can rescue endothelial cells from angiostatin-induced apoptosis (Wang *et al.*, 1995, Lin *et al.*, 2004, Jurasz *et al.*, 2010., Jurasz *et al.*, 2011). This would suggest that angiostatin may have alternative anti-angiogenic effects to cell apoptosis in a hypoxic setting. To understand the potential contribution of angiostatin to ischemic disease, of which hypoxia is a major component, its molecular mechanism of action on cardiac derived endothelial cells within a hypoxic setting was investigated.

Matrix metalloproteinases are crucial to the angiogenic response of endothelial cells, and they play a fundamental role in cell migration, liberation of ECM-sequestered angiogenic factors, and ECM remodelling as they cleave major ECM proteins such as collagen, laminin, elastin and fibronectin (Sternlicht and Werb 2001, Rundhaug 2005).

Previously, human microvascular endothelial cells derived from the lung (HMVEC-L) were shown to express decreased levels of MMP-2 and MT1-MMP in response to angiostatin under hypoxic conditions (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). To gain a more complete understanding of the mechanism of action of angiostatin in a context of CAD, I performed a similar study using HMVEC derived from cardiac microvasculature.

I hypothesized that a physiological concentration of angiostatin (600nM) would decrease HMVEC-C MMP-2 protein expression during hypoxia. Gelatin zymography analysis was utilized to analyze total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 protein levels from HMVEC-C. Hypoxia itself increased total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 levels compared to normoxic cells. This is consistent to other *in vitro* studies where prolonged hypoxia resulted in increased MMP-2 protein levels in human macrovascular cells and human umbilical vein endothelial cells (Ben-Yosef *et al.*, 2002, Ben-Yosef *et al.*, 2005). However, this result was inconsistent with previous experiments involving angiostatin hypoxic-specific inhibition of HMVEC-L MMP-2 expression (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). Hypoxia increased HMVEC-L MMP-2 mRNA expression, however this did not translate to enhanced MMP-2 protein expression, which the authors suggested could reflect hypoxia-mediated suppression of protein translation (van den Beucken *et al.*, 2006, Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). The differences in MMP-2 protein expression by HMVEC-C and HMVEC-L in response to hypoxia, highlights the variations between endothelial cells derived from different tissues.

Under normoxic conditions, physiological concentrations of angiostatin did not have any significant effect on HMVEC-C total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 protein content. However, during hypoxia angiostatin decreased HMVEC-C total pro-MMP-2 and active MMP-2 protein levels compared to hypoxic control (Fig. 8). This is consistent to previous studies performed with HMVEC-L (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). A loss in active MMP-2 could be due to both a reduction in MMP-2 mRNA expression, and a reduction in MT1-MMP expression or activity, as it functions to convert the pro-MMP-2 zymogen to its active state (Deryugina *et al.*, 2001). While a decrease in pro-MMP-2 could be due to angiostatin mediated reduction in MMP-2 mRNA levels.

This has been demonstrated in HMVEC-L where angiostatin inhibited both MMP-2 and MT1-MMP mRNA and protein levels during hypoxia (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). Within a hypoxic environment, angiostatin-mediated inhibition of endothelial cell production of MMP-2 would contribute to impaired endothelial cell migration effectively inhibiting an early stage of angiogenesis. This has been observed in studies involving MMP-2 null mice which exhibit impaired revascularization during ischemia (Lee *et al.*, 2005).

Endothelial function and the angiogenic response are mediated by NO, a bioactive molecule produced by eNOS, an enzyme constitutively expressed by endothelial cells (Lamas *et al.*, 1992). During normoxia, eNOS protein expression was similar between angiostatin-treated and PBS-treated cells. However, a physiological concentration of angiostatin reduced eNOS protein expression by hypoxic HMVEC-C compared to angiostatin treated HMVEC-C exposed to normoxic conditions (Fig. 9). These results were consistent with studies performed in HMVEC-L whereby angiostatin decreased eNOS expression in a hypoxic environment (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). Angiostatin has been previously associated with inhibition of eNOS activity as it reduces endothelial-dependent vasodilation in response to acetylcholine in rat arterioles, an effect that was comparable to treatment with L-NAME (Koshida *et al.*, 2003). A loss or depletion of eNOS can contribute to a stunted angiogenic response, for example aortic segments from eNOS-KO mice demonstrate reduced endothelial cell migration, and proliferation leading to inhibition of sprout formation *in vitro* (Lee *et al.*, 1999).

Furthermore, studies *in vivo* demonstrate that eNOS-KO mice exhibit reduced wound repair, and impaired revascularization after an ischemic challenge leading to critical limb ischemia (Lee et al., 1999, Yu *et al.*, 2005). This highlights the importance of eNOS expression and activity within a setting of ischemic-induced angiogenesis.

Angiostatin's inhibition of eNOS expression within a hypoxic environment would contribute to impaired NO production of which is essential for proper endothelial function and endothelial cell responses in ischemia-induced angiogenesis (Murohara *et al.*, 1998).

However, the downstream events that occur between angiostatin-mediated inhibition of endothelial surface ATP synthase and reduction in eNOS and MMP-2 protein expression remain unclear. One proposed pathway involves the tumor suppressor protein, p53. In HMVEC-L, angiostatin was also found to inhibit p53 expression during hypoxia (Radziwon-Balicka et al., 2013). The authors of this study proposed that under hypoxic conditions angiostatin's inhibition of the endothelial surface ATP synthase results in decreased ATP synthesis leading to disrupted intracellular downstream calcium signalling via a P2Y-purinoceptor. The P2Y-purinoceptor is a known extracellular receptor of ATP, and intracellular calcium levels within endothelial cells can be influenced by ATP (Mo et al., 1991, Ralevic and Burnstock 1998). In summary, ATP depletion could contribute to disrupted downstream calcium signalling thereby attenuating calcium-dependent eNOS activity leading to a reduction in NO production. This is supported by a link between ATP and NO, as ATP has been shown to induce the release of NO from endothelial cells (Gordon 1990). Furthermore, NO levels are known to regulate p53 expression (Forrester et al., 1996). Therefore, with a depletion of NO there may be reduced p53 expression, as observed in hypoxic HMVEC-L treated with angiostatin (Radziwon-Balicka et al., 2013). As p53 is a modulator of MMP-2 transcription (Bian and Sun, 1997), a reduction in p53 could lead to attenuated transcriptional regulation of MMP-2. Moreover, involvement of p53 in the mechanism of action of angiostatin is also demonstrated by a lack of inhibition of angiogenesis by angiostatin in p53-null mice (Jimenez et al., 2000).

Results from these experiments demonstrate that angiostatin acts in a hypoxic-specific manner. This environment specific mechanism of action was also observed in a study where angiostatin's inhibitory effects on angiogenesis were restricted to tumor-affected organs in mice (Lee *et al.*, 2009). The vascular environment in ischemic diseases and tumor growth share a common characteristic; poor oxygen perfusion leading to hypoxia and a resulting acidic extracellular environment due to endothelial cells switching to anaerobic metabolism (Koziel and Jarmuszkiewicz 2017).

Angiostatin's target, the ATP synthase, may exhibit changes in activity or expression within different extracellular environments. Expression of ATP synthase has been found to be increased on cell surfaces at a low extracellular pH and in hypoxic environments (Ma *et al.*, 2010). Furthermore, ATP synthesized by the enzyme activates surface P2Y receptors on endothelial cells, which have been found to transactivate VEGFR-2 to stimulate endothelial cell tubulogenesis (Rumjahn *et al.*, 2009). In settings of hypoxia and resulting acidic conditions, the surface ATP synthase function may be important for endothelial cell maintenance of intracellular pH (Wahl *et al.*, 2005), as well as an important source of ATP that mediates endothelial cell angiogenic responses, such as VEGFR-2 activation (Rumjahn *et al.*, 2009). Thus, inhibition of ATP synthase activity by angiostatin specifically in a low oxygen environment, when its activity could be crucial, could be what leads to a disruption of endothelial cell angiogenic responses.

Angiostatin administration *in vivo* has been shown to reduce tumor growth via impaired angiogenesis (O'Reilly *et al.*, 1994., O'Reilly *et al.*, 1996., Bergers *et al.*, 1999). However, few studies have been performed that delineate angiostatin's effects on ischemic-induced angiogenesis *in vivo*, which could be applied to model an ischemic disease, such as PAD.

As mentioned previously, elevated levels of angiostatin have been associated with decreased coronary collateral angiogenesis in CAD patients (Matsunaga *et al.*, 2005, Sodha *et al.*, 2009). Thus, it is reasonable to hypothesize that excess angiostatin in mice will have inhibitory effects on angiogenesis in ischemic tissue. Folkman and colleagues have established that mice produce endogenous angiostatin (O'Reilly *et al.*, 1994). Therefore, angiostatin (30µg) was administered to create an environment of excess angiostatin within male transgenic eNOS-GFP mice.

Hind limb ischemia was induced by excising the right femoral artery, thereby modeling acute peripheral artery disease whereby blood flow to an extremity is obstructed. C57BL mice do exhibit collateral vessel growth in response to femoral artery ligation (Couffinhal et al., 1998, Wagner et al., 2004). Animals were 12-14 months old, relatively older mice which is a rare occurrence in this field of study. Utilizing aged mice in a hind limb ischemia model can provide greater clinical significance towards the middle-aged to aged patient population that conventionally suffer from ischemic diseases. Furthermore, the rate of revascularization is slower in aged mice thereby allowing for any intervention of angiogenesis to be effectively observed within the experimental allotted time span (28 days) (Rivard et al., 1999, Bosch-Marce et al., 2007). In control and angiostatin-administered mice, blood flow recovery was evident over time after hind limb ischemia was induced (Fig. 10). However, at day 14 post-femoral artery excision, mice administered angiostatin exhibited significantly decreased blood reperfusion in the ischemic limb. (Fig. 11). As a marker of angiogenesis, eNOS-GFP, was visualized within gastrocnemius muscle tissue via confocal microscopy. Imaged eNOS-GFP fluorescence did indeed co-localize with VE-cadherin immunostaining, indicating that expressed eNOS-GFP was derived from the endothelium.

Ischemic tissue from control mice exhibited greater eNOS-GFP fluorescent intensity and distribution when compared to non-ischemic tissues (Fig. 13). Previous studies have observed this in other tissue localizations, such as increased eNOS levels in ischemic rat and human myocardium (Bloch et al., 2001). Moreover, overexpression of eNOS has been reported to be beneficial to promoting angiogenesis in porcine myocardium (Kupatt 2007). Therefore, the increase in eNOS-GFP intensity within the ischemic tissue of control mice could reflect the important role of eNOS in revascularization of ischemic tissues (Murohara et al., 1998, Yu 2005). In contrast, eNOS-GFP fluorescent intensity within ischemic gastrocnemius muscle tissue from angiostatin-administered mice was reduced when compared to control mice (Fig. 13). This pattern parallels with the present HMVEC-C and previous HMVEC-L in vitro studies, where angiostatin treatment reduced eNOS protein expression during hypoxia (Radziwon-Balicka et al., 2013). Additionally, this could explain the reduced blood flow recovery exhibited by the angiostatin-administered mice. A loss of eNOS expression and NO bioavailability would impair angiogenesis and therefore slow blood perfusion recovery. This is illustrated in eNOS-deficient mice which exhibit impaired myocardial angiogenesis during development (Zhao et al., 2002), and reduced neovascularization in response to HLI (Aicher et al., 2003).

MMP-2 expression in an *in vivo* setting has been correlated with increased angiogenesis, and endothelial progenitor cell migration (Rojiani *et al.*, 2010., Kanayasu-Toyoda *et al.*, 2015). Therefore, as an important mediator of endothelial cell migration and angiogenesis, MMP-2 was visualized via immunohistochemistry of mice gastrocnemius muscle tissue. In control mice, MMP-2 staining was increased in ischemic tissue versus non-ischemic tissue (Fig. 14). This result is in line with a previous study demonstrating increased MMP-2 protein expression from ischemic gastrocnemius muscle tissue within a mouse HLI model (Muhs *et al.*, 2003). As observed with the eNOS-GFP, this again could reflect the role of MMP-2 in ischemia-induced angiogenesis. In comparison, MMP-2 staining was reduced in ischemic tissue derived from angiostatin-administered mice (Fig. 15). This pattern parallels to *in vitro* results, whereby angiostatin decreased MMP-2 protein expression from HMVEC-C and HMVEC-L during hypoxia (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). This consistency in downregulation of MMP-2 and eNOS mediated by angiostatin provides valuable insight into how it inhibits angiogenesis within ischemic environments.

In summary, as markers of angiogenesis, eNOS and MMP-2, were reduced in ischemic tissue harvested from angiostatin-administered mice that underwent HLI. These results suggest that the decrease in blood flow perfusion observed in response to angiostatin administration can be attributed to a reduction in ischemia-induced angiogenesis. This is in line with previous *in vivo* investigations demonstrating the association between elevated angiostatin levels and impaired angiogenesis. For instance, increased levels of angiostatin were correlated with impaired coronary angiogenesis in a canine myocardial infarction model (Matsunuga *et al.,* 2002). Also, rats with metabolic syndrome exhibited increased angiostatin levels which contributed to reduced coronary collateral growth in response to myocardial infarction (Dodd *et al.,* 2013). Additionally, ischemic injury in diabetic rats has been shown to elevate angiostatin levels, and decrease capillary growth responses (Liang *et al.,* 2016). Finally, neovascularization in a rabbit aortic stent model was attenuated by angiostatin delivered intravascularly (Ganaha *et al.,* 2004).

Thus, my results further contribute to delineating the inhibitory role of angiostatin on angiogenesis within a model of PAD, and provides a basis for investigating angiostatin as a target to neutralize to promote therapeutic angiogenesis.

Different approaches to neutralizing angiostatin can involve inhibition of angiostatin production, or prevention of its platelet-derived release into the bloodstream. Each approach has potential issues that if further developed may prevent clinical success. Previous studies have determined that anti-platelet drugs, such as aspirin, can prevent angiostatin release from platelet granules by inactivating platelets, however this prevented granular release of pro-angiogenic factors such as VEGF, and has no effect on *de novo* production of angiostatin from plasminogen cleavage (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). Aprotinin has been investigated to prevent angiostatin generation via inhibition of the plasminogen/plasmin pathway, however this would disrupt fibrinolytic processes and therefore would be invalid for use clinically as a pro-angiogenic therapy (Jurasz *et al.*, 2006).

In 1999, Moser and colleagues identified an endothelial surface target for angiostatin, an ectopic ATP synthase. ATP synthase was conventionally thought to be exclusively expressed within the mitochondria, however it was identified to be localized and functional on the surface of endothelial cells (Moser *et al.*, 1999, Moser *et al.*, 2001). Angiostatin was found to bind to the α/β subunits that make up the structure of the F1 domain of the ATP synthase enzyme (Moser *et al.*, 1999). Therefore, a novel approach was explored to utilize the ATP synthase α and β subunits as decoy receptors to bind angiostatin, thereby preventing it from exerting its anti-angiogenic effects on endothelial cells.
Results demonstrated that the ATP synthase α subunit neutralized angiostatin as hypoxic HMVEC-C had increased total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 protein expression when compared to hypoxic HMVEC-C treated with angiostatin alone, and with HMVEC-C co-treated with angiostatin and the ATP synthase δ subunit (Fig. 16). The ATP synthase δ subunit was not identified as a binding target for angiostatin (Moser *et al.*, 1999), and as expected HMVEC-C treated with angiostatin and the ATP synthase δ subunit did not demonstrate a difference in total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 expression compared to angiostatin alone. Therefore, the effects observed with the ATP synthase α subunit are not due to "non-angiostatin" specific subunit activity upon HMVEC-C. Co-treatment of HMVEC-C with angiostatin and the ATP synthase β subunit demonstrated a trend towards increased levels of total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 during hypoxia, however it was not increased to the same extent as observed with the α subunit, and was not statistically different than angiostatin treatment alone (Fig. 16). A possible explanation for this is differences in binding kinetics between the subunits, as angiostatin may bind more efficiently to the α subunit than the β subunit at the concentrations used.

In addition, competitive binding to the subunits by other factors present in the cell culture cannot be ruled out. For example, β -thymosin is an extracellular modulator of angiogenesis that has been shown to bind and interact with the β subunit of endothelial cell surface ATP synthase (Freeman *et al.*, 2010). A possible source of β -thymosin in the *in vitro* experiments could be the 0.5% FBS used in the cell culture medium. If angiostatin competes with β -thymosin for binding of the decoy β subunit, perhaps increasing the concentration of the β subunit would be more successful in neutralizing angiostatin.

Angiostatin has been shown to inhibit endothelial cell migration in vitro (Eriksson et al., 2003, Radziwon-Balicka et al., 2013). Endothelial cell migration through the ECM environment during angiogenesis is partly mediated by MMP-2 (Rundhaug 2005), therefore a MMPdependent migration assay was utilized to investigate if neutralizing angiostatin would restore HMVEC-C migration during hypoxia. HMVEC-C were seeded into a modified Boyden chamber that was separated from a lower chamber via a gelatin-coated membrane. This would ensure that cell migration towards a VEGF-gradient would be partially mediated by MMP-2 activity as gelatin is a preferred substrate (Tryggvason *et al.*, 1992). Statistical analysis of data from these experiments indicated significant difference between cell treatments, with HMVEC-C co-treated with angiostatin and the ATP synthase α subunit exhibiting an average increase in migration compared to angiostatin treatment alone and angiostatin with the ATP synthase δ subunit (Fig. 18). This pattern was not observed in cells co-incubated with angiostatin and the ATP synthase β subunit. As mentioned previously, the ATP synthase β subunit at the concentration used may bind with proteins other than angiostatin, such as β-thymosin, and the binding of angiostatin to the decoy receptor may not be as efficient as the ATP synthase α subunit. In addition, there is a possibility that increasing the n number of these experiments may give more power to the statistical analysis.

Thus, utilizing the ATP synthase α subunit as an angiostatin decoy receptor to increase endothelial cell pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 protein expression and migration within a hypoxic setting could have a significant impact on an essential early step in angiogenesis. Previous attempts to neutralize angiostatin involved utilizing aprotinin to prevent plasminogen/plasmin derived angiostatin formation (Jurasz *et al.*, 2006). However, interfering with the plasminogen/plasmin system results in interference with fibrinolysis. Therefore, the ATP synthase subunits were tested *in vitro* to determine if they disrupted the fibrinolytic process mediated by the plasminogen/plasmin system. These results indicated that the ATP synthase subunits at the given concentrations (3μ M) showed no interference with fibrin clot breakdown *in vitro* (Fig. 20).

In summary, these results are promising for future studies involving the ATP synthase subunits as decoy receptors to neutralize angiostatin within an *in vivo* setting, and for potential translational research into a clinical setting.

5.1 Limitations of the Study

As gelatin zymography analysis involves dissociation of TIMP/MMP complexes, only MMP-2 protein expression can be measured, while the activity of MMP-2 within a biological setting cannot be truly represented. Analyzing levels of TIMPs, such as TIMP-2, could be performed to further elucidate angiostatin's hypoxic-specific effects on balances between TIMP and MMPs thereby providing insight into the extent of MMP-2 activity. Furthermore, MMP-2 mRNA expression was not analyzed, and so the results obtained can only speak to protein expressed following protein translation. Additionally, a possible limitation of treating cultured cells in vitro with angiostatin is that the surface ATP synthase activity can be influenced by flow conditions (Yamamoto et al., 2007). Thus, factors such as shear stress should be considered when delineating angiostatin's mechanism of action in vitro. Furthermore, different cell culture compositions, for example two-dimensional (monolayer growth) versus three dimensional (collagen matrix), can influence the response of endothelial cells (Haas et al., 1998, Stegemann et al., 2003). When analyzing MMP-dependent cell migration in a Boyden chamber assay, cell migration through the gelatin-coated membrane could be mediated partially by MT1-MMP, as extent of MMP-2 activation can be regulated via MT1-MMP (Strongin et al., 1995). Therefore, it is important for future research to delineate angiostatin's effects on HMVEC-C expression of MT1-MMP during hypoxia.

During this project, a major issue occurred while ordering and receiving the ATP synthase subunits. Unfortunately, this caused a major delay as I was unable to utilize the ATP synthase subunits for almost a year due to delays with manufacturing by the supplier, followed by issues with contamination of the subunits by the supplier when received.

97

As a result, this limited the extent to which this study could investigate the ATP synthase subunits in neutralizing angiostatin, particularly investigating them *in vivo* utilizing the HLI model.

6. CONCLUDING REMARKS

Angiostatin is an anti-angiogenic factor that demonstrates inhibitory effects on endothelial cell migration, proliferation and survival (Claesson-Welsh et al., 1998, Ji et al., 1998, Griscelli et al., 1998, Troyanovsky et al., 2001, Hanford et al., 2003, Sharma et al., 2004). Due to complexities introduced into studies by utilizing different isoforms of angiostatin and the contribution of different microenvironments, its exact mechanism of action has yet to be fully elucidated. In this study, it was hypothesized that angiostatin acts to reduce angiogenic mediators, MMP-2 and eNOS, within cardiac-derived endothelial cells specifically in a hypoxic environment. Furthermore, as elevated levels of angiostatin have been associated with impaired angiogenesis (Matsunuga et al., 2005, Sodha et al., 2009, Dodd et al., 2013), I hypothesized that administering angiostatin in transgenic eNOS-GFP mice, thereby creating an environment of excess angiostatin, would reduce recovery angiogenesis in a HLI model. Neutralization of angiostatin is a novel potential strategy to promote therapeutic angiogenesis, and would be beneficial particularly in an ischemic disease setting where elevated levels of angiostatin correlate with reduced blood vessel growth. Since an ATP synthase identified on the surface of endothelial cells is well-characterized target for angiostatin (Moser et al., 1999, Moser et al., 2001), ATP synthase α and β subunits were investigated for their potential to selectively neutralize angiostatin to restore MMP-2 levels, and MMP-dependent endothelial cell migration at concentrations that did not interfere with fibrinolysis in vitro. In summary, results from this study are as follows:

1. Angiostatin decreases HMVEC-C total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 protein expression in hypoxic conditions.

2. Angiostatin decreases eNOS protein expression in hypoxic HMVEC-C in comparison to angiostatin treated normoxic HMVEC-C.

3. Administering angiostatin in transgenic eNOS-GFP mice significantly reduced blood flow recovery in response to HLI. This is due to impaired angiogenesis as indicated by reduced levels of angiogenic markers, eNOS and MMP-2, within ischemic tissue.

4. Neutralizing angiostatin with the ATP synthase α subunit increases hypoxic HMVEC-C total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 protein expression compared to angiostatin alone.

5. Through neutralization of angiostatin within a migration assay, hypoxic HMVEC-C coincubated with the ATP synthase α subunit exhibited an average increase in MMP-dependent migration compared to angiostatin treatment alone.

6. The ATP synthase α and β subunits (3 μ M) did not interfere with fibrinolysis *in vitro*.

Therefore, utilizing the ATP synthase α subunit, as a decoy receptor to bind and prevent angiostatin from exerting its anti-angiogenic effects is a potential novel therapeutic strategy for promoting angiogenesis. To completely inhibit angiostatin action may lead to excessive angiogenesis, potentially in the case of an unrecognized indolent tumour. However, in patient populations where angiostatin levels are abnormally high, using decoy receptors to selectively bind excess angiostatin, in conjunction with providing pro-angiogenic therapy may have the potential to tip the 'angiogenic switch' to promote angiogenesis in ischemic vascular disease.

7. FUTURE DIRECTIONS

Platelets have been shown to store and release angiostatin derived from their α -granules (Jurasz *et al.*, 2003). Plasma concentrations of platelet-derived angiostatin can reach up to double its physiological concentration (600nM to 1.2µM) upon platelet activation (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). This may translate to pathological states where increased platelet activity may potentially lead to localized elevated levels of angiostatin. Therefore, it would be important to investigate the effects of a high concentrations would override VEGF-mediated pro-survival signalling to induce apoptosis as observed in HMVEC-L (Radziwon-Balicka *et al.*, 2013). Additionally, further investigations with the ATP synthase subunits could determine if neutralizing angiostatin at these high concentrations would protect HMVEC-C from angiostatin-induced apoptosis.

In some CAD patients with Type 2 diabetes angiostatin levels have been found to be elevated in the blood, and correlated with impaired collateral vessel growth (Sodha *et al.*, 2009). Endothelial dysfunction, often due to loss of endothelial NO bioavailability, is a common pathological characteristic of Type 2 diabetes, and can contribute to a decrease in endothelial cell survival and impaired angiogenesis in response to ischemia. Thus, Type 2 diabetes is a high risk factor for development of cardiovascular diseases. (Tabit *et al.*, 2010, Kolluru *et al.*, 2012, Sena *et al.*, 2013, Howangyin and Silvestre 2014). Within these pathological conditions, downregulation of eNOS expression by angiostatin would further reduce NO availability, thereby contributing to the progression of endothelial dysfunction and impaired angiogenic responses. Therefore, it was hypothesized that Type 2 diabetic (T2D) HMVEC-C would have impaired eNOS expression and as a result would be susceptible to cell death in response to angiostatin treatment during hypoxia.

A preliminary western blot analysis of basal eNOS expression from T2D HMVEC-C demonstrated reduced levels of eNOS compared to HMVEC-C derived from non-diabetic patients. I have performed preliminary studies where T2D HMVEC-C were treated with a physiological concentration of angiostatin (600nM) followed by incubation in hypoxia for 48 hours. Cell apoptosis and necrosis were measured by utilizing flow cytometry to analyze annexin V-fluorescein (FITC) and propidium iodide staining (Figure 22). Data from these experiments suggest that when compared to non-diabetic HMVEC-C, angiostatin induced apoptosis and more noticeably increased cell necrosis in hypoxic Type 2 diabetic HMVEC-C, as summarized in Figure 23. Further experiments are required to statistically analyze these results. In addition, investigating the effects of angiostatin on eNOS expression by Type 2 diabetic HMVEC-C may confirm whether Type 2 diabetic HMVEC-C are more susceptible to hypoxic challenge due to angiostatin's suppressive effects on already low eNOS levels. This route of investigation can determine if angiostatin-mediated reduction in eNOS expression within a model of endothelial dysfunction would further contribute to existing impairments in ischemia-induced angiogenesis.



Figure 21: Western blot measuring basal levels of eNOS protein expression by HMVEC-C and T2D HMVEC-C.



Figure 22: Representative dot plots of flow cytometry analysis of annexin V-FITC and propidium iodide staining. Hypoxic HMVEC-C treated with PBS or angiostatin (AS) (600nM). Hypoxic T2D HMVEC-C treated with PBS or angiostatin (600nM). Q3a: % live cells. Q4a: % early apoptotic cells. Q2a: % late apoptotic cells. Q1a: % necrotic cells.



Figure 23: Summary bar graph of flow cytometry dot plot data measuring % necrosis from all groups. T2D HMVEC-C treated with angiostatin (AS) (600nM) exhibited a trend towards increased % necrosis compared to PBS treated T2D HMVEC-C after 48 hours of hypoxia, n=2.

Neutralization of angiostatin with the ATP synthase α subunit (3µM) yielded promising results whereby total pro-MMP-2 and MMP-2 were increased in hypoxic HMVEC-C. Future studies could involve developing a concentration-response curve, using a range such as 1µM-10µM of the ATP synthase α subunit, as well as the ATP synthase β subunit as perhaps at higher concentrations this subunit binds angiostatin more effectively.

Future experiments could include utilizing the ATP synthase subunits to neutralize angiostatin's inhibitory effects on eNOS expression by hypoxic HMVEC-C. Furthermore, since the ATP synthase subunits (3µM) did not interfere with the fibrinolytic process, there is a potential for further investigation into an *in vivo* hind limb ischemia model within transgenic eNOS-GFP mice. This could determine if neutralizing endogenous angiostatin in mice would promote angiogenesis in the ischemic limb. Additionally, studies investigating the ATP synthase subunits within a murine myocardial infarction model would be valuable to delineate if neutralizing angiostatin would promote angiogenesis in a cardiovascular disease model. To take this further, HLI experiments could be performed in T2D mice to explore the potential of neutralizing angiostatin to promote angiogenesis within a model of endothelial dysfunction.

REFERENCES

- Aicher, A., Heeschen, C., Mildner-Rihm, C., Urbich, C., Ihling, C., Technau-Ihling, K., Zeiher, A., Dimmeler, S. (2003). Essential role of endothelial nitric oxide synthase for mobilization of stem and progenitor cells. *Nat Med* 9: 1370-1376.
- Armstrong, L., Bornstein, P. (2003). Thrombospondins 1 and 2 function as inhibitors of angiogenesis. *Matrix Biol* 22: 63-71.
- Arnet, U., McMillan, A., Dinerman, J., Ballermann, B., Lowenstein, C. (1996). Regulation of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase during hypoxia. *J Biol Chem* 271: 15069-15073.
- Arnold, W. Mittal, C., Katsuki, S., Murad, F. (1977). Nitric oxide activates guanylate cyclase and increases guanosine 3':5'-cyclic monophosphate levels in various tissue preparations. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 74: 3203-3207.
- Aronson, D., Edelman, E. (2010). Revascularization for coronary artery disease in diabetes mellitus: Angioplasty, stents and coronary artery bypass grafting. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* 11: 75-86.
- Arpino, V., Brock, M., Gill, S. (2015). The role of TIMPs in regulation of extracellular matrix proteolysis. *Matrix Biol* 44-46: 247-254.
- Azuma, H., Ishikawa, M., Sekizaki, S. (1986). Endothelium-dependent inhibition of platelet aggregation. *Br J Pharmacol* 88: 411-415.
- Baker, A., Edwards, D., Murphy, G. (2002). Metalloproteinase inhibitors: biological actions and therapeutic opportunities. *J Cell Sci* 115: 3719-3727.
- Barendsz-Janson, A. Griffioen, A., Muller, A., van Dam-Mieras, M., Hillen, H. (1998). In vitro tumor angiogenesis assays: plasminogen lysine binding site 1 in vitro tumor-induced angiogenesis. J Vasc Res 35: 109-114.

- Bates, D. Vascular endothelial growth factors and vascular permeability. *Cardiovasc Res* 2010; 87: 262-271.
- Bein, K., Simons, M. (2000). Thrombospondin type 1 repeats interact with matrix metalloproteinase 2. Regulation of metalloproteinase activity. *J Biol Chem* 275: 32167-32173.
- Belleri, M., Ribatti, D., Nicoli, S., Cotelli, F., Forti, L., Vannini, V., Stivala, L., Presta, M. (2005). Antiangiogenic and vascular-targeting activity of the microtubule-destabilizing trans-resveratrol derivative 3,5,4'-trimethoxystilbene. *Mol Pharmacol* 67: 1451-1459.
- Benelli, R., Morini, M., Carrozzino, F., Ferrari, N., Minghelli, S., Santi, L., Cassatella, M., Noonan, D., Albini, A. (2002). Neutrophils as a key cellular target for angiostatin: implications for regulation of angiogenesis and inflammation. *FASEB J* 16: 267-269.
- Benjamin, L., Golijanin, D., Itin, A., Pode, D., Keshet, E. (1999). Selective ablation of immature blood vessels in established human tumors follows vascular endothelial growth factor withdrawal. J Clin Invest 103: 159-165.
- Ben-Yosef, Y., Miller, A., Shapiro, S., Lahat, N. (2005). Hypoxia of endothelial cells leads to MMP-2-dependent survival and death. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol* 289: C1321-C1331.
- Ben-Yosef, Y., Lahat, N., Shapiro, S., Bitterman, H., Miller, A. (2002). Regulation of endothelial matrix metalloproteinase-2 by hypoxia/reoxygenation. *Circ Res* 90: 784-791.
- Bergers, G., Javaherian, K., Lo, K., Folkman, J., Hanahan, D. (1999). Effects of angiogenesis inhibitors on multistage carcinogenesis in mice. *Science* 284: 808-812.
- Bernatchez, P., Soker, S., Sirois, M. (1999). Vascular endothelial growth factor effect on endothelial cell proliferation, migration, and platelet-activating factor synthesis is Flk-1-dependent. *J Biol Chem* 274: 31047-31054.
- Bian, J., and Sun, Y. (1997). Transcriptional activation of p53 of the human type IV collagenase (gelatinase A or matrix metalloproteinase 2) promoter. *Molecular and Cellular Biology* 17: 6330-6338.

- Bigg, H., Morrison, C., Butler, G., Bogoyevitch, M., Wang, Z., Soloway, P., Overall, C. (2001). Tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases-4 inhibits but does not support the activation of gelatinase A via efficient inhibition of membrane type 1-matrix metalloproteinase. *Cancer Res* 61: 3610-3618.
- Bloch, W., Mehlhorn, U., Krahwinkel, A., Reiner, M., Dittrich, M., Schmidt, A., Addicks, K. (2001). Ischemia increases detectable endothelial nitric oxide synthase in rat and human myocardium. *Nitric Oxide* 5: 317-333.
- Bogdan, C. (2001). Nitric oxide and the immune response. Nat Immunol 2: 907-916.
- Bosch-Marce, M., Okuyama, H., Wesley, J., Sarkar, K., Kimura, H., Liu, Y., Zhang, H., Strazza, M., Rey, S., Savino, L., Zhou, Y., McDonald, K., Na, Y., Vandiver, S., Rabi, A., Shaked, Y., Kerbel, R., Lavallee, T., Semenza, G. (2007). Effects of aging and hypoxia-inducible factor-1 activity on angiogenic cell mobilization and recovery of perfusion after limb ischemia. *Circ Res* 101: 1310-1318.
- Boyer, P. (1997). The ATP synthase—a splendid molecular machine. *Annu Rev Biochem* 66: 717-749.
- Bratt, A., Birot, O., Sinha, I., Veitonmaki, N., Aase, K., Ernkvist, M., Holmgren, L. (2005). Angiomotin regulates endothelial cell-cell junctions and cell motility. *J Biol Chem* 280: 34859-34869.
- Brew, K., Nagase, H. (2010). The tissue inhibitors of metalloproteinases (TIMPs): An ancient family with structural and functional diversity. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1803: 55-71.
- Brooks, P., Clark, R., Cheresh, D. (1994). Requirement of vascular integrin alpha v beta 3 for angiogenesis. *Science* 264: 569-571.
- Bucala, R., Tracey, K., Cerami, A. (1991). Advanced glycosylation products quench nitric oxide and mediate defective endothelium-dependent vasodilatation in experimental diabetes. *J Clin Invest* 87: 432-438.
- Burri, P., Hlushchuk, R., Djonov, V. (2004). Intussusceptive angiogenesis: its emergence, its characteristics, and its significance. *Dev Dyn* 231: 474-488.

- Burwick, N., Wahl, M., Fang, J., Zhong, Z., Moser, T., Li, B., Capaldi, R., Kenan, D., Pizzo, S. (2005). An inhibitor of the F1 subunit of ATP synthase (IF1) modulates the activity of angiostatin on the endothelial cell surface. *J Biol Chem* 280: 1740-1745.
- Busse, R., Luckhoff, A., Bassenge, E. (1987). Endothelium-derived relaxant factor inhibits platelet activation. *Naunyn Schmiedebergs Arch Pharmacol* 336: 566-571.
- Butler, G., Butler, M., Atkinson, S., Will, H., Tamura, T., Schade van Westerum, S., Crabbe, T., Clements, J., d'Ortho, M., Murphy, G. (1998). The TIMP2 membrane type 1 metalloproteinase "receptor" regulates the concentration and efficient activation of progelatinase A. A kinetic study. *J Biol Chem* 273:871-880.
- Byrne, A., Bouchier-Hayes, D., Harmey, J. (2005). Angiogenic and cell survival functions of vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF). *J Cell Mol Med* 9: 777-794.
- Cao, Y. (2010). Therapeutic angiogenesis for ischemic disorders: what is missing for clinical benefits? *Discov Med* 9: 179-184.
- Cao, Y., Ji, R., Davidson, D., Schaller, J., Marti, D., Sohndel, S., McCance, S., O'Reilly, M., Llinas, M., Folkman, J. (1996). Kringle domains of human angiostatin. Characterization of the anti-proliferative activity on endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 271: 29461-29467.

Cao, Y., Xue, L. (2004). Angiostatin. Semin Thromb Hemost 30: 83-93.

Carmeliet, P. (2003). Angiogenesis in health and disease. Nat Med 9: 653-660.

Carmeliet, P. (2000). Mechanisms of angiogenesis and arteriogenesis. Nat Med 6: 389-395.

- Carmeliet, P., Ferreira, V., Breier, G., Pollefeyt, S., Kieckens, L., Gertsenstein, M., Fahrig, M., Vandenhoeck, A., Harpal, K., Eberhardt, C., Declercq, C., Pawling, J., Moons, L., Collen, D., Risau, W., Nagy, A. (1996). Abnormal blood vessel development and lethality in embryos lacking a single VEGF allele. *Nature* 380: 435-439.
- Castellino, F., Ploplis, V. (2005). Structure and function of the plasminogen/plasmin system. *Thromb Haemost* 93: 647-654.

- Chavakis, T., Athanasopoulos, A., Rhee, J., Orlova, V., Schmidt-Woll, T., Bierhaus, A., May, A., Celik, I., Nawroth, P., Preissner, K. (2005). Angiostatin is a novel anti-inflammatory factor by inhibiting leukocyte recruitment. *Blood* 105: 1036-1043.
- Chetty, C., Lakka, S., Bhoopathi, P., Rao, J. (2010). MMP-2 alters VEGF expression via alphaVb3 integrin-mediated PI3K/AKT signaling in A549 lung cancer cells. *Int J Cancer* 5: 1081-1095.
- Chi, S., Pizzo, S. (2006). Angiostatin is directly cytotoxic to tumor cells at low extracellular pH: a mechanism dependent on cell surface-associated ATP synthase. *Cancer Res* 66: 875-882.
- Chi, S., Wahl, M., Mowery, Y., Shan, S., Mukhopadhyay, S., Hilderbrand, S., Kenan, D., Lipes, B., Johnson, C., Marusich, M., Capaldi, R., Dewhirst, M., Pizzo, S. (2007). Angiostatinlike activity of a monoclonal antibody to the catalytic subunit of F1F0 ATP synthase. *Cancer Res* 67: 4716-4724.
- Cho, A., Mitchell, L., Koopmans, D., Langille, B., (1997). Effects of changes in blood flow rate on cell death and cell proliferation in carotid arteries of immature rabbits. *Circ Res* 81: 328-337.
- Claesson-Welsh, L., Welsh, M. (2013). VEGFA and tumour angiogenesis. J Intern Med 273: 114-127.
- Claesson-Welsh, L., Welsh, M., Ito, N., Anand-Apte, B., Soker, S., Zetter, B., O'Reilly, M., Folkman, J. (1998). Angiostatin induces endothelial cell apoptosis and activation of focal adhesion kinase independently of the integrin-binding motif RGD. *Cell Biology* 95: 5579-5583.
- Cooke, J., Losordo, D. Nitric oxide and angiogenesis. (2002). Circulation 105: 2133-2135.
- Cornelius, L., Nehring, L., Harding, E., Bolanowski, M., Welgus, H., Kobayashi, D., Pierce, R., Shapiro, S. (1998). Matrix metalloproteinases generate angiostatin: effects on neovascularization. *J Immunol* 161: 6845-6852.
- Corson, M., James, N., Latta, S., Nerem, R., Berk, B., Harrison, D. (1996). Phosphorylation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in response to fluid shear stress. *Circ Res* 79: 984-991.

- Couffinhal, T., Silver, M., Zheng, L., Kearney, M., Witzenbichler, B., Isner, J. (1998). Mouse model of angiogenesis. *Am J Pathol* 152: 1667-1679.
- Coultas, L., Chawengsaksophak, K., Rossant, J. (2005). Endothelial cells and VEGF in vascular development. *Nature* 438: 937-945.
- Davis, G., Senger, D. (2005). Endothelial extracellular matrix: biosynthesis, remodeling, and functions during vascular morphogenesis and neovessel stabilization. *Circ Res* 97: 1093-1107.
- Deanfield, J., Donald, A., Ferri, C., Giannattasio, C., Halcox, J., Halligan, S., Lerman, A., Mancia, G., Oliver, J., Pessina, A., Rizzoni, D., Rossi, G., Salvetti, A., Schiffrin, E., Taddei, S., Webb, D; Working Group on Endothelin and Endothelial Factors of the European Society of Hypertension. (2005). Endothelial function and dysfunction. Part I: Methodological issues for assessment in the different vascular beds: a statement by the Working Group on Endothelin and Endothelial Factors of the European Society of Hypertension. *J Hypertens* 23: 7-17.
- Dell'Eva, R., Pfeffer, U., Indraccolo, S., Albini, A., Noonan, D. (2002). Inhibition of tumor angiogenesis by angiostatin: from recombinant protein to gene therapy. *Endothelium* 9: 3-10.
- Deryugina, E., Ratnikov, B., Monosov, E., Postnova, T., DiScipio, R., Smith, J., Strongin, A. (2001). MT1-MMP initiates activation of pro-MMP-2 and integrin alphavbeta3 promotes maturation of MMP-2 in breast carcinoma cells. *Exp Cell Res* 263: 209-223.
- Dimmeler, S., Dernbach, E., Zeiher, A. (2000). Phosphorylation of the endothelial nitric oxide synthase at ser-1177 is required for VEGF-induced endothelial cell migration. *FEBS Lett* 477: 258-262.
- Dimmeler, S., Fleming, I., Fisslthaler, B., Hermann, C., Busse, R., Zeiher, A. (1999). Activation of nitric oxide synthase in endothelial cells by Akt-dependent phosphorylation. *Nature* 399: 601-605.
- Dimmeler, S., Zeiher, A. (2000). Endothelial cell apoptosis in angiogenesis and vessel regression. *Circ Res* 87: 434-439.

- Dimmeler, S., Zeiher, A. (1999). Nitric oxide-an endothelial cell survival factor. *Cell Death Differ* 6: 964-968.
- Dodd, T., Wiggins, L., Hutcheson, R., Smith, E., Musiyenko, A., Hysell, B., Russel, J., Rocic, P. (2013). Impaired coronary collateral growth in the metabolic syndrome is in part mediated by matrix metalloproteinase 12-dependent production of endostatin and angiostatin. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 33: 1339-1349.
- Dragneva, G., Korpisalo, P., Yla-Herttuala, S. (2013). Promoting blood vessel growth in ischemic diseases: challenges in translating preclinical potential into clinical success. *Dis Model Mech* 6: 312-322.
- Eriksson, K., Magnusson, P., Dixelius, J., Claesson-Welsh, L., Cross, M. (2003). Angiostatin and endostatin inhibit endothelial cell migration in response to FGF and VEGF without interfering with specific intracellular signal transduction pathways. *FEBS Lett* 536: 19-24.
- Esser, S. Lampugnani, M., Corada, M., Dejana, E., Risau, W. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor induces VE-cadherin tyrosine phosphorylation in endothelial cells. *J Cell Sci* 111: 1853-1865.
- Falk, M. (2010). Adherens junctions remain dynamic. BMC Biol 8:34.
- Feliers, D., Chen, X., Akis, N., Choudhury, G., Madaio, M., Kasinath, B. (2005). VEGF regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase in glomerular endothelial cells. *Kidney Int* 68: 1648-1659.
- Ferrara, N. (1993). Vascular endothelial growth factor. Trends Cardiovasc Med 3: 244-250.
- Ferrara, N., Carver-Moore, K., Chen, H., Dowd, M., Lu, L., O'Shea, K., Powell-Braxton, L., Hillan, K., Moore, M. (1996). Heterozygous embryonic lethality induced by targeted inactivation of the VEGF gene. *Nature* 380: 439-442.
- Ferrara, N., Davis-Smyth, T. (1997). The biology of vascular endothelial growth factor. *Endocr Rev* 18: 4-25.

- Folkman, J. (1995). Angiogenesis in cancer, vascular, rheumatoid and other disease. *Nat Med* 1: 27-31.
- Forrester, K., Ambs, S., Lupold, S., Kapust, R., Spillare, E., Weinberg, W., Felley-Bosco, E., Wang, X., Geller, D., Tzeng, E., Billiar, T., Harris, C. (1996). Nitric oxide-induced p53 accumulation and regulation of inducible nitric oxide synthase expression by wild-type p53. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 93: 2442-2447.
- Forstermann, U., Sessa, W. (2012). Nitric oxide synthases: regulation and function. *Eur Heart J* 33: 829-837.
- Forsythe, J., Jiang, B., Iyer, N., Agani, F., Leung, S., Koos, R., Semenza, G. (1996). Activation of vascular endothelial growth factor gene transcription by hypoxia-inducible factor 1. *Mol Cell Biol* 16: 4604-4613.
- Fragai, M., Luchinat, C. (2015). Matrix metalloproteinases: from structure to function, in matrix metalloproteinase biology (eds Sagi, I and Gaffney, J), John Wiley & Sons, Inc, Hobokem, NJ, USA. doi: 10.1002/9781118772287.ch3.
- Freeman, K., Bowman, B., Zetter, B. (2011). Regenerative protein thymosin beta-4 is a novel regulator of purinergic signaling. *FASEB J* 25: 907-915.
- Fu, Y., Zhu, Y. (2010). Ectopic ATP synthase in endothelial cells: a novel cardiovascular therapeutic target. *Curr Pharm Des* 16: 4074-4079.
- Furchgott, R., Zawadzki, J. (1980). The obligatory role of endothelial cells in the relaxation of arterial smooth muscle by acetylcholine. *Nature* 288: 373-376.
- Gaengel, K., Genove, G., Armulik, A., Betscholtz, C. (2009). Endothelial-mural cell signaling in vascular development and angiogenesis. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 29: 630-638.
- Ganaha, F., Kao, E., Wong, H., Elkins, C., Lee, J., Modanlou, S., Rhee, C., Kuo, M., Yuksel, E., Cifra, P, Waugh, J., Dake, M. (2004). Stent-based controlled release of intravascular angiostatin to limit plaque progression and in-stent restenosis. *J Vasc Interv Radiol* 15: 601-608.

- Genis, L., Gonzalo, P., Tutor, A., Galvez, B., Martinez-Ruiz, A., Zaragoza, C., Lamas, S., Tryggvason, K., Apte, S., Arroyo, A. (2007). Functional interplay between endothelial nitric oxide synthase and membrane type 1 matrix metalloproteinase in migrating endothelial cells. *Blood* 110: 2916-2923.
- Gerber, H., Dixit, V., Ferrara, N. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor induces expression of the antiapoptotic proteins Bcl-2 and A1 in vascular endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 273: 13313-13316.
- Gerber, H., McMurtrey, A., Kowalski, J., Yan, M., Keyt, B., Dixit, V., Ferrara, N. (1998). Vascular endothelial growth factor regulates endothelial cell survival through the phosphatidylinositol 3'-kinase/Akt signal transduction pathway. Requirement for Flk-1/KDR activation. *J Biol Chem* 273: 30336-30343.
- Gerhardt, H., Golding, M., Fruttiger, M., Ruhrberg, C., Lundkvist, A., Abramsson, A., Jeltsch, M., Mitchell, C., Alitalo, K., Shima, D., Betsholtz, C. (2003). VEGF guides angiogenic sprouting utilizing endothelial tip cell filopodia. *J Cell Biol* 161: 1163-1177.
- Giordano, F. (2005). Oxygen, oxidative stress, hypoxia, and heart failure. *J Clin Invest* 115: 500-508.
- Goldberg, G., Marmer, B., Grant, G., Eisen, A., Wilhelm, S., He, C. (1989). Human 72kilodalton type IV collagenase forms a complex with a tissue inhibitor of metalloproteases designated TIMP-2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 86: 8207-8211.

Gordon, J. (1990). The effects of ATP on endothelium. Ann NY Acad Sci 603: 46-51.

Govindasamy, N., Yan, M., Jurasz, P. (2016). Incorporation of β-actin loading control into zymography. *J Biol Methods* 3: pii: e61. Doi: 10.14440/jbm.2016.157.

Gridley, T. (2010). Notch signaling in the vasculature. Curr Top Dev Biol 92: 277-309.

Griscelli, F., Li, H., Bennaceur-Griscelli, A., Soria, J., Opolon, P., Soria, C., Perricaudet, M., Yeh, P., Lu, H. (1998). Angiostatin gene transfer: Inhibition of tumor growth in vivo by blockage of endothelial cell proliferation associated with mitosis arrest. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA* 95: 6367-6372.

- Haas, T. Davis, S., Madri, J. (1998). Three-dimensional type I collagen lattices induce coordinate expression of matrix metalloproteinases MT1-MMP and MMP-2 in microvascular endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 273: 3604-3610.
- Haas, T., Madri, J. (1999). Extracellular matrix-driven matrix metalloproteinase production in endothelial cells: implications for angiogenesis. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 9: 70-77.
- Habib, G., Heibig, J., Forman, S., Brown, B., Roberts, R., Terrin, M., Bolli, R. (1991). Influence of coronary collateral vessels on myocardial infarct size in humans. Results in phase I thrombolysis in myocardial infarction (TIMI) trial. The TIMI investigators. *Circulation* 83: 739-746.
- Hajjar, K., Krishnan, S. (1999). Annexin II: a mediator of the plasmin/plasminogen activator system. *Trends Cardiovasc Med* 9: 128-138.
- Hanahan, D., Folkman, J. (1996). Patterns and emerging mechanisms of the angiogenic switch during tumorigenesis. *Cell* 86: 353-364.
- Hanford, H., Wong, C., Kassan, H., Cundiff, D., Chandel, N., Underwood, S., Mitchell, C., Soff, G. (2003). Angiostatin4.5-mediated apoptosis of vascular endothelial cells. *Cancer Research* 63: 4275-4280.
- Hansen, J. (1989). Coronary collateral circulation: clinical significance and influence on survival in patients with coronary artery occlusion. *Am Heart J* 117: 290-295.
- Heil, M., Eitenmuller, I., Schmitz-Rixen, T., Schaper, W. (2006). Arteriogenesis versus angiogenesis: similarities and differences. *J Cell Mol Med* 10: 45-55.
- Helisch, A., Schaper, W. (2003). Arteriogenesis: the development and growth of collateral arteries. *Microcirculation* 10: 83-97.
- Hellstrom, M., Kalen, M., Lindahl, P., Abramsson, A., Betsholtz, C. (1999). Role of PDGF-B and PDGFR-beta in recruitment of vascular smooth muscle cells and pericytes during embryonic blood vessel formation in the mouse. *Development* 126: 3047-3055.

- Hoeben, A., Landuyt, B., Highley, M., Wildiers, H., Van Oosterom, A., De Bruijn, E. (2004). Vascular endothelial growth factor and angiogenesis. *Pharmacol Rev* 4: 549-580.
- Holmes, D., Zachary, I. (2005). The vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) family: angiogenic factors in health and disease. *Genome Biol* 6: 209.
- Hood, J., Meininger, C., Ziche, M., Granger, H. (1998). VEGF upregulates ecNOS message, protein, and NO production in human endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol* 274: H1054-H1058.
- Horton, M. (1997). The alpha v beta 3 integrin "vitronectin receptor". *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 29: 721-725.
- Houck, K., Ferrara, N., Winer, J., Cachianes, G., Li, B., Leung, D. (1991). The vascular endothelial growth factor family: identification of a fourth molecular species and characterization of alternative splicing of RNA. *Mol Endocrinol* 5: 1806-1814.
- Howangyin., K., Silvestre, J. (2014). Diabetes mellitus and ischemic diseases: molecular mechanisms of vascular repair dysfunction. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 34: 1126-1135.
- Huang, Z., Bao, S. (2004). Roles of main pro- and anti-angiogenic factors in tumor angiogenesis. *World J Gastroenterol* 4: 463-470.
- Hudlicka, O. (1998). Is physiological angiogenesis in skeletal muscle regulated by changes in microcirculation? *Microcirculation* 5: 7-23.
- Ignarro, L., Buga, G., Wood, K., Byrns, R., Chaudhuri, G. (1987). Endothelium-derived relaxing factor produced and released from artery and vein is nitric oxide. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 84: 9265-9269.
- Italiano Jr., J., Richardson, J., Patel-Hett, S., Battinelli, E., Zaslavsky, A., Short, S., Ryeom, S., Folkman, J., Klement, G. (2008). Angiogenesis is regulated by a novel mechanism: proand antiangiogenic proteins are organized into separate platelet α granules and differentially released. *Blood* 111: 1227-1233.

Itoh, Y. (2006). MT1-MMP: A key regulator of cell migration in tissue. Life 10: 589-596.

- Itoh, Y., Ito, A., Iwata, K., Tanzawa, K., Mori, Y., Nagase, H. (1998). Plasma membrane-bound tissue inhibitor of metalloproteinases (TIMP)-2 specifically inhibits matrix metalloproteinase 2 (gelatinase A) activated on the cell surface. *J Biol Chem* 273: 24360-24367.
- Jakeman, L., Winer, J., Bennet, G., Altar, C., Ferrara, N. (1992). Binding sites for vascular endothelial growth factor are localized on endothelial cells in adult rat tissues. *J Clin Invest* 89: 244-253.
- Ji, W., Castellino, F., Chang, Y., Deford, M., Gray, H., Villarreal, X., Kondri, M., Marti, D., Llinas, M., Schaller, J., Kramer, R., Trail, P. (1998). Characterization of kringle domains of angiostatin as antagonists of endothelial cell migration, an important process in angiogenesis. *FASEB J* 12: 1731-1738.
- Jimenez, B., Volpert, O., Crawford, S., Febbraio, M., Silverstein, R., Bouck, N. (2000). Signals leading to apoptosis-dependent inhibition of neovascularization by thrombospondin-1. *Nat Med* 6: 41-48.
- Jonckheere, A., Smeitink, J., Rodenburg, R. (2012). Mitochondrial ATP synthase: architecture, function and pathology. *J Inherit Metab Dis* 35: 211-225.
- Ju, H., Zou, R., Venema, V., Venema, R. (1997). Direct interaction of endothelial nitric-oxide synthase and caveolin-1 inhibits synthase activity. *J Biol Chem* 272: 18522-18525.
- Jurasz, P., Alonso, D., Castro-Blanco, S., Murad, F., Radomski, M. (2003). Generation and role of angiostatin in human platelets. *Blood* 102: 3217-3223.
- Jurasz, P., Ng, D., Granton, J., Courtman, D., Stewart, D. (2010). Elevated platelet angiostatin and circulating endothelial microfragments in idiopathic pulmonary arterial hypertension: a preliminary study. *Thromb Res* 125: 53-60.
- Jurasz, P., Santos-Martinez, M., Radomska, A., Radomski, M. (2006). Generation of platelet angiostatin mediated by urokinase plasminogen activator: effects on angiogenesis. *J Thromb Haemost* 5: 1095-1106.
- Jurk, K., Kehrel, B. (2005). Platelets: physiology and biochemistry. *Semin Thromb Hemost* 31: 381-392.

- Kalebic, T., Garbisa, S., Glaser, B., Liotta, L. (1983). Basement membrane collagen: degradation by migrating endothelial cells. *Science* 221: 281-283.
- Kalluri, R. (2003). Basement membranes: Structure, assembly and role in tumour angiogenesis. *Nat Rev Cancer* 3: 422-433.
- Kanayasu-Toyoda, T., Tanaka, T., Ishii-Watabe, A., Kitagawa, H., Matsuyama, A., Uchida, E., Yamaguchi, T. (2015). Angiogenic role of MMP-2/9 expressed on the cell surface of early endothelial progenitor cells/myeloid angiogenic cells. *J Cell Physiol* 230: 2763-2775.
- Karrowni, W., El Accaoui, R., Chatterjee, K. (2013). Coronary collateral circulation: its relevance. *Catheter Cardiovasc Interv* 82: 915-928.
- Kaunas, R., Kang, H., Bayless, K. (2011). Synergistic regulation of angiogenic sprouting by biochemical factors and wall shear stress. *Cell Mol Bioeng* 4: 547-559.
- Kenan, D., Wahl, M. (2005). Ectopic localization of mitochondrial ATP synthase: a target for anti-angiogenesis intervention? *J Bioenerg Biomembr* 37: 461-465.
- Kim, S., Bakre, M., Yin, H., Varner, J. (2002). Inhibition of endothelial cell survival and angiogenesis by protein kinase A. *J Clin Invest* 110: 933-941.
- Kim, E., Choi, J., Song, Y., Hahn, J., Chang, S., Park, S., Lee, S., Choi, S., Choe, Y., Park, S., Gwon, H. (2016). A protective role of early collateral blood flow in patients with STsegment elevation myocardial infarction. *Am Heart J* 171: 56-63.
- Kim, Y., Talanian, R., Billiar, T. (1997). Nitric oxide inhibits apoptosis by preventing increases in caspase-3-like activity via two distinct mechanisms. *J Biol Chem* 272: 31138-31148.
- Kiran, M., Viji, R., Kumar, S., Prabhakaran, A., Sudhakaran, P. (2011). Changes in expression of VE-cadherin and MMPs in endothelial cells: Implications for angiogenesis. *Vasc Cell* 14: 6.

- Klement, G., Yip, T., Cassiola, F., Kikuchi, L., Cervi, D., Podust, V., Italiano, J., Wheatley, E., Abou-Slaybi, A., Bender, E., Almog, N., Kieren, M., Folkman, J. (2009). Platelets actively sequester angiogenesis regulators. *Blood* 2835-2842.
- Kolluru, G., Bir, S., Kevil, C. (2012). Endothelial dysfunction and diabetes: effects on angiogenesis, vascular remodeling, and wound healing. *Int J Vasc Med* 2012: 918267.
- Koshida, R., Ou, J., Matsunaga, T., Chilian, W., Oldham, K., Ackerman, A., Pritchard, K. (2003). Angiostatin: a negative regulator of endothelial-dependent vasodilation. *Circulation* 107: 803-806.
- Koziel, A., Jarmuszkiewicz, W. (2017). Hypoxia and aerobic metabolism adaptations of human endothelial cells. *Pflugers Arch* 469: 815-827.
- Krock, B., Skuli, N., Celeste Simon, M. (2011). Hypoxia-induced angiogenesis good and evil. *Genes Cancer* 2: 1117-1133.
- Kroll, J., Waltenberger, J. (1998). VEGF-A induces expression of eNOS and iNOS in endothelial cells via VEGF receptor-2 (KDR). *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 252: 743-746.
- Kumar, C. (2003). Integrin alpha v beta 3 as a therapeutic target for blocking tumor-induced angiogenesis. *Curr Drug Targets* 4: 123-131.
- Kupatt, C., Hinkel, R., von Bruhl, M., Pohl, T., Horstkotte, J., Raake, P., El Aouni, C., Thein, E., Dimmeler, S., Feron, O., Boekstegers, P. (2007). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase overexpression provides a functionally relevant angiogenic switch in hibernating pig myocardium. J Am Coll Cardiol 49: 1575-1584.
- Ladoux, A., Frelin, C. (1993). Hypoxia is a strong inducer of vascular endothelial growth factor mRNA expression in the heart. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun* 2: 1005-1010.
- Lamalice, L., Le Boeuf, F., Huot, J. (2007). Endothelial cell migration during angiogenesis. *Circ Res* 100: 782-794.

- Lamas, S., Marsden, P., Li, G., Tempst, P., Michel, T. (1992). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase: molecular cloning and characterization of a distinct constitutive enzyme isoform. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 89: 6348-6352.
- Lassaletta, A., Chu, L., Sellke, F. (2011). Therapuetic neovascularization for coronary disease: current state and future prospects. *Basic Res Cardiol* 106: 897-909.
- Lawson, N., Vogel, A., Weinstein, B. (2002). Sonic hedgehog and vascular endothelial growth factor act upstream of the Notch pathway during arterial endothelial differentiation. *Dev Cell* 3: 127-136.
- Leblond, C., Inoue, S. (1989). Structure, composition, and assembly of basement membrane. *Am* J Anat 185: 367-390.
- Lee, J., Dahi, S., Mahimkar, R., Tulloch, N., Alfonso-Jaume, M., Lovett, D., Sarkar, R. (2005). Intronic regulation of matrix metalloproteinase-2 revealed by in vivo transcriptional analysis in ischemia. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 102: 16345-16350.
- Lee, P., Kibbe, M., Schuchert, M., Stolz, D., Watkins, S., Griffith, B., Billiar, T., Shears, L. (2000). Nitric oxide induces angiogenesis and upregulates alpha(v) beta (3) integrin expression on endothelial cells. *Microvasc Res* 60: 269-280.
- Lee, P., Salyapongse, A., Bragdon, G., Shears, L., Watkins, S., Edington, H., Billiar, T. (1999). Impaired wound healing and angiogenesis in eNOS-deficient mice. *Am J Physiol* 277:H1600-H1608.
- Lee, T., Muschal, S., Pravda, E., Folkman, J., Abdollahi, A., Javaherian, K. (2009). Angiostatin regulates the expression of antiangiogenic and proapoptotic pathways via targeted inhibition of mitochondrial proteins. *Blood* 114: 1987-1998.
- Leung, D., Cachianes, G., Kuang, W., Goeddel, D., Ferrara, N. (1989). Vascular endothelial growth factor is a secreted angiogenic mitogen. *Science* 246: 1306-1309.
- Li, X., Eriksson, U. (2001). Novel VEGF family members: VEGF-B, VEGF-C and VEGF-D. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 33: 421-426.

- Liang, Y., Zeng, Z., Hua, L., Li, J., Wang, Y., Bi, X. (2016). Expression and significance of angiostatin, vascular endothelial growth factor and matrix metalloproteinase-9 in brain tissue of diabetic rats with ischemia reperfusion. *Asian Pac J Trop Med* 9: 587-591.
- Lin, C., McGough, R., Aswad, B., Block, J., Terek, R. (2004). Hypoxia induces HIF-1alpha and VEGF expression in chondrosarcoma cells and chondrocytes. *J Orthop Res* 22: 1175-1181.
- Liu, Z., Wang, F., Chen, X. (2008). Integrin αVβ3-targeted cancer therapy. *Drug Dev Res* 69: 329-339.
- Lucas, R., Holmgren, L., Garcia, I., Jimenez, B., Mandriota, S., Borlat, F., Sim, B., Wu, Z., Grau, G., Shing, Y., Soff, G., Bouck, N., Pepper, M. (1998). Multiple forms of angiostatin induce apoptosis in endothelial cells. *Blood* 92: 4730-4741.
- Lusis, A. (2000). Atherosclerosis. Nature 407: 233-241.
- Ma, Z., Cao, M., Liu, Y., He, Y., Wang, Y., Yang, C., Wang, W., Du, Y., Zhou, M., Gao, F. (2010). Mitochondrial F1Fo-ATP synthase translocates to cell surface in hepatocytes and has high activity in tumor-like acidic and hypoxic environment. *Acta Biochim Biophys Sin (Shanghai)* 42: 530-537.
- Makanya, A., Hlushchuk, R., Djonov, V. (2009). Intussusceptive angiogenesis and its role in vascular morphogenesis, patterning, and remodeling. *Angiogenesis* 12: 113-123.
- Malemud, C. (2006). Matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) in health and disease: an overview. *Front Biosci* 11: 1696-1701.
- Mandriota, S., Menoud, P., Pepper, M. (1996). Transforming growth factor beta 1 downregulates vascular endothelial growth factor receptor 2/flk-1 expression in vascular endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 271: 11500-11505.
- Matsunaga, T., Chilian, W., March, K. (2005). Angiostatin is negatively associated with coronary collateral growth in patients with coronary artery disease. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Phsyiol* 288: H2042-2046.

- Matsunaga, T., Weihrauch, D., Moniz, M., Tessmer, J., Warltier, D., Chilian, W. (2002). Angiostatin inhibits coronary angiogenesis during impaired production of nitric oxide. *Circulation* 105: 2185-2191.
- Meier, P., Hemingway, H., Lanksy, A., Knapp, G., Pitt, B., Seiler, C. (2012). The impact of the coronary collateral circulation on mortality: a meta-analysis. *Eur Heart J* 33: 614-621.
- Meier, P., Schirmer, S., Lanksy, A., Timmis, A., Pitt, B., Selier, C. (2013). The collateral circulation of the heart. *BMC Med* 11: 143.
- Michaelis, M., Michaelis, U., Fleming, I., Suhan, T., Cinatl, J., Blaheta, R., Hoffmann, K., Kotchetkov, R., Busse, R., Nau, H., Cinatl, J. (2004). Valproic acid inhibits angiogenesis in vitro and in vivo. *Mol Pharmacol* 65: 520-527.
- Mo, M., Eskin, S., Schilling, W. (1991). Flow-induced changes in Ca2+ signaling of vascular endothelial cells: effect of shear stress and ATP. *Am J Physiol* 260: H1698-H1707.
- Moncada, S., Higgs, E. (2006). The discovery of nitric oxide and its role in vascular biology. *Br* J Pharmacol 147: S193-S201.
- Moncada, S., Palmer, R., Higgs, E. (1991). Nitric oxide: physiology, pathophysiology, and pharmacology. *Pharmacol Rev* 43: 109-142.
- Morrison, C., Butler, G., Bigg, H., Roberts, C., Soloway, P., Overall, C. (2001). Cellular activation of MMP-2 (gelatinase A) by MT2-MMP occurs via a TIMP-2-independent pathway. *J Biol Chem* 276: 47402-47410.
- Moser, T., Kenan, D., Ashley, T., Roy, J., Goodman, M., Misra, U., Cheek, D., Pizzo, S. (2001). Endothelial cell surface F1-F0 ATP synthase is active in ATP synthesis and is inhibited by angiostatin. *Proc Natl Acad Sci US A* 98: 6656-6661.
- Moser, T., Stack, M., Asplin, I., Enghild, J., Hojrup, P., Everitt, L., Hubchak, S., Schnaper, H., Pizzo, S. (1999). Angiostatin binds ATP synthase on the surface of human endothelial cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 96: 2811-2816.

- Muhs, B., Plitas, G., Delgado, Y., Ianus, I., Shaw, J., Adelman, M., Lamparello, P., Shamamian, P., Gagne, P. (2003). Temporal expression and activation of matrix metalloproteinases-2, -9, and membrane type 1-matrix metalloproteinase following acute hind limb ischemia. J Surg Res 111: 8-15.
- Mundel, T., Kalluri, R. (2007). Type IV collagen-derived angiogenesis inhibitors. *Microvasc Res* 74: 85-89.
- Murohara, T., Asahara, T., Silver, M., Bauters, C., Masuda, H., Kalka, C., Kearney, M., Chen, D., Symes, J., Fishman, M., Huang, P., Isner, J. (1998). Nitric oxide synthase modulates angiogenesis in response to tissue ischemia. *J Clin Invest* 101: 2567-2578.
- Nikolova, A., Ablasser, K., Wyler von Ballmoos, M., Poutias, D., Kaza, E., McGowan, F., Moses, M., Del Nido, P., Friehs, I. (2012). Endogenous angiogenesis inhibitors prevent adaptive capillary growth in left ventricular pressure overload hypertrophy. *Ann Thorac Surg* 94: 1509-1517.
- Niiyama, H., Huang, N., Rollins, M., Cooke, J. (2009). Murine model of hindlimb ischemia. J Vis Exp 23:1035.
- Ohno-Matsui, K., Uetama, T., Yoshida, T., Hayano, M., Itoh, T., Morita, I., Mochizuki, M. (2003). Reduced retinal angiogenesis in MMP-2 deficient mice. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 44: 5370-5375.
- Okrainec, K., Banerjee, D., Eisenberg, M. (2004). Coronary artery disease in the developing world. *Am Heart J* 148: 7-15.
- Olsson, A., Dimberg, A., Kreuger, J., Claesson-Welsh, L. (2006). VEGF receptor signaling-in control of vascular function. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 7: 359-371.
- O'Reilly, M., Boehm, T., Shing, Y., Fukai, N., Vasios, G., Lane, W., Flynn, E., Birkhead, J., Olsen, B., Folkman, J. (1997). Endostatin: an endogenous inhibitor of angiogenesis and tumor growth. *Cell* 88: 277-285.
- O'Reilly, M., Holmgren, L., Chen, C., Folkman, J. (1996). Angiostatin induces and sustains dormancy of human primary tumors in mice. *Nat Med* 2: 689-692.

- O'Reilly, M., Holmgren, L., Shing, Y., Chen, C., Rosenthal, R., Moses, M., Lane, W., Cao, Y., Sage, E., Folkman, J. (1994). Angiostatin: a novel angiogenesis inhibitor that mediates the suppression of metastases by a Lewis lung carcinoma. *Cell* 79: 315-328.
- O'Reilly, M., Wiederschain, D., Stetler-Stevenson, W., Folkman, J., Moses, M. (1999). Regulation of angiostatin production by matrix metalloproteinase-2 in a model of concomitant resistance. *Journal of Biol Chem* 274: 29468-29571.
- Orlidge, A., D'Amore, P. (1987). Inhibition of capillary endothelial cell growth by pericytes and smooth muscle cells. *J Cell Biol* 105:1455–1462.
- Ozdemir, O., Ozkan, D., Soylu, M., Demir, A., Alyan, O., Geyik, B., Aras, D., Kunt, A., Arda, K., Sasmaz, H., Cobanoglu, A. (2005). Effects of previously well-developed collateral vessels on left internal mammary artery graft flow after bypass surgery. *Tex Heart Inst J* 32: 35-42.
- Palmer, R., Ferrige, A., Moncada, S. (1987). Nitric oxide release accounts for the biological activity of endothelium-derived relaxing factor. *Nature* 327: 524-526.
- Papapetropoulos, A., Garcia-Cardena, G., Madri, J., Sessa, W. (1997). Nitric oxide production contributes to the angiogenic properties of vascular endothelial growth factor in human endothelial cells. *J Clin Invest* 100: 3131-3139.
- Pardali, E., Goumans, M., ten Dijke, P. (2010). Signaling by members of the TGF-beta family in vascular morphogenesis and disease. *Trends Cell Biol* 20: 556-567.
- Park, J. Hong, G., Baek, S., Shin, D., Kim, Y., Shim, B. (2002). Expression and regulation of endothelial nitric oxide synthase by vascular endothelial growth factor in ECV 304 cells. *J Korean Med Sci* 17: 161-167.
- Pober, J., Min, W., Bradley, J. (2009). Mechanisms of endothelial dysfunction, injury, and death. Annu Rev Pathol 4: 71-95.
- Potente, M., Gerhardt, H., Carmeliet, P. (2011). Basic and therapeutic aspects of angiogenesis. *Cell* 146: 873-887.

- Radomski, M., Palmer, R., Moncada, S. (1990). An L-arginine/nitric oxide pathway present in human platelets regulates aggregation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 87: 5193-5197.
- Radomski, M., Palmer, R., Moncada, S. (1987). The anti-aggregating properties of vascular endothelium: interactions between prostacyclin and nitric oxide. *Br J Pharmacol* 92: 639-646.
- Radziwon-Balicka, A., Moncada de la Rosa, C., Jurasz, P. (2012). Platelet-associated angiogenesis regulating factors: a pharmacological perspective. *Can J Physiol Pharmacol* 6: 679-688.
- Radziwon-Balicka, A., Moncada de la Rosa, C., Zielnik, B, Doroszko, A., Jurasz, P. (2013). Temporal and pharmacological characterization of angiostatin release and generation by human platelets: implications for endothelial cell migration. *PLoS One* 8: e59281.
- Radziwon-Balicka, A., Ramer, C., Moncada de la Rosa, C., Zielnik-Drabik, B., Jurasz, P. (2013). Angiostatin inhibits endothelial MMP-2 and MMP-14 expression: A hypoxic specific mechanism of action. *Vasc Pharmacol* 58: 280-291.
- Ralevic, V., Burnstock, G. (1998). Receptors for purines and pyrimidines. *Pharmacol Rev* 50: 413-492.
- Rees, D., Palmer, R., Moncada, S. (1989). Role of endothelium-derived nitric oxide in the regulation of blood pressure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 86: 3375-3378.
- Ribatti, D., Nico, B., Crivellato, E. (2011). The role of pericytes in angiogenesis. *Int J Dev Biol* 55: 261-268.
- Risau, W. (1997). Mechanisms of angiogenesis. Nature 386: 671-674.
- Rivard, A., Fabre, J., Silver, M., Chen, D., Murohara, T., Kearney, M., Magner, M., Asahara, T., Isner, J. (1999). Age-dependent impairment of angiogenesis. *Circulation* 99:111-120.
- Roberts, W., Palade, G. (1995). Increased microvascular permeability and endothelial fenestration induced by vascular endothelial growth factor. *J Cell Sci* 108: 2369-2379.

- Rojiani, M., Alidina, J., Esposito, N., Rojiani, A. (2010). Expression of MMP-2 correlates with increased angiogenesis in CNS metastasis of lung carcinoma. *Int J Clin Exp Pathol* 3: 775-781.
- Roth, G., Huffman, M., Moran, A., Feigin, V., Mensah, G., Naghavi, M., Murray, C. (2015). Global and regional patterns in cardiovascular mortality from 1990-2013. *Circulation* 132: 1667-1678.
- Rousseau, S., Houle, F., Landry, J., Huot, J. (1997). p38 MAP kinase activation by vascular endothelial growth factor mediates actin reorganization and cell migration in human endothelial cells. *Oncogene* 15: 2169-2177.
- Rubanyi, G. (1993). The role of endothelium in cardiovascular homeostasis and diseases. J Cardiovasc Pharmacol 22: S1-S14.
- Rumjahn, S., Yokdang, N., Baldwin, K., Thai, J., Buxton, I. (2009). Purinergic regulation of vascular endothelial growth factor signaling in angiogenesis. *Br J Cancer* 100: 1465-1470.
- Rundhaug, J. (2005). Matrix metalloproteinases and angiogenesis. J Cell Mol Med 9: 267-285.
- Sabia, P., Powers, E., Ragosta, M., Sarembock, I., Burwell, L., Kaul, S. (1992). An association between collateral blood flow and myocardial viability in patients with recent myocardial infarction. N Engl J Med 327: 1825-1831.
- Saikumar, P., Dong, Z., Weinberg, J., Venkatachalam, M. (1998). Mechanisms of cell death in hypoxia/reoxygenation injury. *Oncogene* 17: 3341-3349.
- Sangkuhl, K., Shuldiner, A., Klein, T., Altman, R. (2011). Platelet aggregation pathway. *Pharmacogenet Genomics* 21: 516-521.
- Sarrazin, S., Lamanna, W., Esko, J. (2011). Heparan Sulfate Proteoglycans. *Cold Spring Harb Perspect Biol* 3: a004952.
- Sato, H., Okada, Y., Seiki, M. (1997). Membrane-type matrix metalloproteinases (MT-MMPs) in cell invasion. *Thromb Haemost* 78: 497-500.

- Sato, Y., Rifkin, D. (1989). Inhibition of endothelial cell movement by pericytes and smooth muscle cells: activation of a latent transforming growth-beta 1-like molecule by plasmin during co-culture. J Cell Biol 109: 309-315.
- Saunders, B., Bohnsack, B., Faske, J., Anthis, N., Bayless, K., Hirschi, K., Davis, G. (2006). Coregulation of vascular tube stabilization by endothelial cell TIMP-2 and pericyte TIMP-3. J Cell Biol 175: 179-191.

Schaper, W. (2009). Collateral circulation past and present. Basic Res Cardiol 104: 5-21.

- Schnaper, H., Grant, D., Stetler-Stevenson, W., Fridman, R., D'Orazi, G., Murphy, A., Bird, R., Hoythya, M., Fuerst, T., French, D., Quigley, J., Kleinman, H. (1993). Type IV collagenase(s) and TIMPS modulate endothelial cell morphogenesis in vitro. *J Cell Physiol* 156: 235-246.
- Seiler, C. (2003). The human coronary collateral circulation. Heart 89: 1352-1357.
- Semenza, G. (2010). Vascular responses to hypoxia and ischemia. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 30: 648-652.
- Semenza, G., Wang, G. (1992). A nuclear factor induced by hypoxia via de novo protein synthesis binds to the human erythropoietin gene enhancer at a site required for transcriptional activation. *Mol Cell Biol* 12: 5447-5454.
- Sena, C., Pereira, A., Seica, R. (2013). Endothelial dysfunction- a major mediator of diabetic vascular disease. *Biochim Biophys Acta* 1832: 2216-2231.
- Senger, D., Galli, S., Dvorak, A., Perruzzi, C., Harvey, V., Dvorak, H. (1983). Tumor cells secrete a vascular permeability factor that promotes accumulation of ascites fluid. *Science* 4587: 983-985.
- Sharma, M., Tuszynski, G., Sharma, M. (2004). Angiostatin-induced inhibition of endothelial cell proliferation/apoptosis is associated with the down-regulation of cell cycle regulatory protein cdk5. *J Cell Biochem* 91: 398-409.
- Shibuya, M. (2011). Vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) and its receptor (VEGFR) signaling in angiogenesis. A crucial target for anti- and pro-angiogenic therapies. *Genes Cancer* 2: 1097-1105.
- Shibuya, M., Claesson-Welsh, L. (2006). Signal transduction by VEGF receptors in regulation of angiogenesis and lymphangiogenesis. *Exp Cell Res* 312: 549-560.
- Shweiki, D., Itin, A., Soffer, D., Keshet, E. (1992). Vascular endothelial growth factor induced by hypoxia may mediate hypoxia-initiated angiogenesis. *Nature* 359: 843-845.
- Silletti, S., Kessler, T., Goldberg, J., Boger, D., Cheresh, D. (2001). Disruption of matrix metalloproteinase 2 binding to integrin alphavbeta3 by an organic molecule inhibits angiogenesis and tumor growth in vivo. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 98: 119-124.
- Sima, J., Zhang, J., Fant, C., Crosson, C., Saunders, R., Wilson, M., Ma, J. (2003). Angiostatin decreases vascular leakage by down-regulating VEGF expression. *Invest Ophthalmol Vis Sci* 44: 363.
- Simons, M. (2005). Angiogenesis: where do we stand now? Circulation 111:1556-1566.
- Simons, M., Gordon, E., Claesson-Welsh, L. (2016). Mechanisms and regulation of endothelial VEGF receptor signaling. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol* 17: 611-625.
- Sodha, N., Clements, R., Boodhwani, M., Xu, S., Laham, R., Bianchi, C., Sellke, F. (2009). Endostatin and angiostatin are increased in diabetic patients with coronary artery disease and associated with impaired coronary collateral formation. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 296: H428-434.
- Soff, G. (2000). Angiostatin and angiostatin-related proteins. Cancer Metastasis Rev 19: 97-107.
- Sorensen, B., Busk, M., Overgaard, J., Horsman, M., Alsner, J. (2015). Simultaneous hypoxia and low extracellular pH suppress overall metabolic rate and protein synthesis in vitro. *PLoS One* 10: e0134955.

- Sottrup-Jensen, L., Birkedal-Hansen, H. (1989). Human fibroblast collagenase-alphamacroglobulin interactions. Localization of cleavage sites in the bait regions of five mammalian alpha-macroglobulins. *J Biol Chem* 264: 393-401.
- Stathakis, P., Fitzgerald, M., Matthias, L., Chesterman, C., Hogg, P. (1997). Generation of angiostatin by reduction and proteolysis of plasmin. Catalysis by a plasmin reductase secreted by cultured cells. *J Biol Chem* 272: 20641-20645.
- Stegemann, J., Nerem, R. (2003). Altered response of vascular smooth muscle cells to exogenous biochemical stimulation in two-and three-dimensional culture. *Exp Cell Res* 283:146-155.
- Sternlicht, M., Werb, Z. (2001). How matrix metalloproteinases regulate cell behavior. *Annu Rev Cell Dev Biol* 17: 463-516.
- Stetler-Stevenson, W. (1999). Matrix metalloproteinases in angiogenesis: a moving target for therapeutic intervention. *J Clin Invest* 103: 1237-1241.
- Stratman, A., Davis, G. (2012). Endothelial cell-pericyte interactions stimulate basement membrane matrix assembly: influence on vascular tube remodeling, maturation, and stabilization. *Microsc Microanal* 18: 68-80.
- Strongin, A., Collier, I., Bannikov, G., Marmer, B., Grant, G., Goldberg, G. (1995). Mechanism of cell surface activation of 72-kDa type IV collagenase. Isolation of the activated form of the membrane metalloprotease. *J Biol Chem* 270: 5331-5338.
- Strongin, A., Marmer, B., Grant, G., Goldberg, G. (1993). Plasma membrane-dependent activation of the 72-kDa type IV collagenase is prevented by complex formation with TIMP-2. *J Biol Chem* 268: 14033-14039.
- Sumpio, B., Riley, J., Dardik, A. (2002). Cells in focus: endothelial cell. *Int J Biochem Cell Biol* 34: 1508-1512.

- Suuronen, E., Hazra, S., Zhang, P., Vincent, R., Kumarathasan, P., Zhang, Y., Price, J., Chan, V., Sellke, F., Mesana, T., Veinot, J., Ruel, M. (2010). Impairment of human cell-based vasculogenesis in rats by hypercholesterolemia-induced endothelial dysfunction and rescue with L-arginine supplementation. *J Thorac Cardiovasc Surg* 139: 209-216.
- Tabit, C. Chung, W., Hamburg, N., Vita, J. (2010). Endothelial dysfunction in diabetes mellitus: molecular mechanisms and clinical implications. *Rev Endocr Metab Disord* 11: 61-74.
- Takawale, A., Zhang, P., Azad, A., Wang, W., Wang, X., Murray, A., Kassiri, Z. (2017). Myocardial overexpression of TIMP3 following myocardial infarction exerts beneficial effects through promoting angiogenesis and suppressing early proteolysis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* doi: 10.1152/ajpheart.00108.2017.
- Tarui, T., Miles, L., Takada, Y. (2001). Specific interaction of angiostatin with integrin alpha(v)beta(3) in endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem* 276: 39562-39568.
- Terman, B., Khandke, L., Dougher-Vermazan, M., Maglione, D., Lassam, N., Gospodarowicz, D., Persico, M., Bohlen, P., Eisinger, M. (1994). VEGF receptor subtypes KDR and FLT1 show different sensitivities to heparin and placenta growth factor. *Growth Factors* 11: 187-195.
- Timmons, S., Kloczewiak, M., Hawiger, J. (1984). ADP-dependent common receptor mechanism for binding of von Willebrand factor and fibrinogen to human platelets. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 81: 4935-4939.
- Tischer, E., Mitchell, R., Hartman, T., Silva, M., Gospodarowicz, D., Fiddes, J., Abraham, J. (1991). The human gene for vascular endothelial growth factor. Multiple protein forms are encoded through alternative exon splicing. *J Biol Chem* 266: 11947-11954.
- Tousoulis, D., Kampoli, A., Papageorgiou, C., Stefanadis, C. (2012). The role of nitric oxide on endothelial function. *Current Vascular Pharmacol* 10: 4-18.
- Troyanovsky, B., Levchenko, T., Mansson, G., Matvijenko, O., Holmgren, L. (2001). Angiomotin: an angiostatin binding protein that regulates endothelial cell migration and tube formation. *J Cell Biol* 152: 1247-1254.

- Tryggvason, K., Huhtala, P., Hoyhtya, M., Hujanen, E., Hurskainen, T. (1992). 70 K type IV collagenase (gelatinase). *Matrix Suppl* 45-50.
- Tuszynski, G., Sharma, M., Rothman, V., Sharma, M. (2002). Angiostatin binds to tyrosine kinase substrate annexin II through the lysine-binding domain in endothelial cells. *Microvasc Res* 64: 448-462.
- van den Beuken, T., Koritzinksky, M., Wouters, B. (2006). Translational control of gene expression during hypoxia. *Cancer Biol Ther* 5: 749-755.
- van der Zee, R., Murohara, T., Luo, Z., Zollmann, F., Passeri, J., Lekutat, C., Isner, J. (1997). Vascular endothelial growth factor/vascular permeability factor augments nitric oxide release from quiescent rabbit and human vascular endothelium. *Circulation* 95: 1030-1037.
- van Haperen, R., Cheng, C., Mees, B., van Deel, E., de Waard, M., van Damme, L., van Gent, T., van Aken, T., Krams, R., Duncker, D., de Crom, R. (2003). Functional expression of endothelial nitric oxide synthase fused to green fluorescent protein in transgenic mice. *Am J Pathol* 163: 1677-1686.
- Varga-Szabo, D., Pleines, I., Nieswandt, B. (2008). Cell adhesion mechanisms in platelets. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 28: 403-412.
- Veitonmaki, N., Cao, R., Wu, L., Moser, T., Li, B., Pizzo, S., Zhivotovsky, B., Cao, Y. (2004). Endothelial cell surface ATP synthase-triggered caspase-apoptotic pathway is essential for K1-5-induced antiangiogenesis. *Cancer Res* 64: 3679-3686.
- von Tell, D., Armulik, A., Betsholtz, C. (2006). Pericytes and vascular stability. *Exp Cell Res* 312: 623-629.
- Wagner, S., Helisch, A., Ziegelhoeffer, T., Bachmann, G., Schaper, W. (2004). Magnetic resonance angiography of collateral vessels in a murine femoral artery ligation model. *NMR Biomed* 17: 21-27.
- Wahl, M. Grant, D. (2000). Effects of microenvironmental extracellular pH and extracellular matrix proteins on angiostatin's activity and on intracellular pH. *Gen Pharmacol* 35: 277-285.

- Wahl, M., Kenan, D., Gonzalez-Gronow, M., Pizzo, S. (2005). Angiostatin's molecular mechanism: aspects of specificity and regulation elucidated. *Journal of Cellular Biochemistry* 96: 242-261.
- Wahl, M., Moser, T., Pizzo, S. (2004). Angiostatin and anti-angiogenic therapy in human disease. *Recent Prog Horm Res* 59: 73-104.
- Wahl, M., Owen, C., Grant, D. (2002). Angiostatin induces intracellular acidosis and anoikis in endothelial cells at a tumor-like low pH. *Endothelium* 9: 205-216.
- Wang, G., Jiang, B., Rue, E., Semenza, G. (1995). Hypoxia-inducible factor 1 is a basic-helixloop-helix-PAS heterodimer regulated by cellular O2 tension. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 92:5510-5514.
- Weihrauch, D., Lohr, N., Mraovic, B., Ludwig, L., Chilian, W., Pagel, P., Warltier, D., Kersten, J. (2004). Chronic hyperglycemia attenuates coronary collateral development and impairs proliferative properties of myocardial interstitial fluid by production of angiostatin. *Circulation* 109: 2343-2348.
- Yamamoto, K., Shimizu, N., Obi, S., Kumagaya, S., Taketani, Y., Kamiya, A., Ando, J. (2007). Involvement of cell surface ATP synthase in flow-induced ATP release by vascular endothelial cells. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 293: H1646-H1653.
- Yu, J., deMuinck, E., Zhuang, Z., Drinane, M., Kauser, K., Rubanyi, G., Qian, H., Murata, T., Escalante, B., Sessa, W. (2005). Endothelial nitric oxide synthase is critical for ischemic remodeling, mural cell recruitment, and blood flow reserve. *Proc Natl Acad Sci USA*102: 10999-11004.
- Zanetti, A., Lampugnani, M., Balconi, G., Breviario, F., Corada, M., Lanfrancone, L., Dejana, E. (2002). Vascular endothelial growth factor induces SHC association with vascular endothelial cadherin: a potential feedback mechanism to control vascular endothelial growth factor receptor-2 signalling. *Arterioscler Thromb Vasc Biol* 22: 617-622.
- Zhao, X., Lu, X., Feng, Q. (2002). Deficiency in endothelial nitric oxide synthase impairs myocardial angiogenesis. *Am J Physiol Heart Circ Physiol* 283: H2371-H2379.

- Zhou, J., Cheng, M., Liao, Y., Hu, Y., Wu, M., Wang, Q., Qin, B., Wang, H., Zhu, Y., Gao, X., Goukassian, D., Zhao, T., Tang, Y., Kishore, R., Qin, G. (2013). Rosuvastatin enhances angiogenesis via eNOS-dependent mobilization of endothelial progenitor cells. *PLoS One* 8: e63126.
- Zhou, Z., Apte, S., Soininen, R., Cao, R., Baaklini, G., Rauser, R., Wang, J., Cao, Y., Tryggvason, K. (2000). Impaired endochondral ossification and angiogenesis in mice deficient in membrane-type matrix metalloproteinase I. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A* 97: 4052-4057.

Ziche, M., Morbidelli, L. (2000). Nitric oxide and angiogenesis. J Neurooncol 50: 139-148.

Ziche, M., Morbidelli, L., Choudhuri, R., Zhang, H., Donnini, S., Granger, H., Bicknell, R. (1997). Nitric oxide synthase lies downstream from vascular endothelial growth factorinduced but not basic endothelial growth factor-induced angiogenesis. *J Clin Invest* 99: 2625-2634.

Ziche, M., Morbidelli, L. (2000). Nitric oxide and angiogenesis. J Neurooncol 50: 139-148.